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Directors’ Report

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and of
the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Boustead Holdings Berhad was incorporated in Malaysia in 1960 and its principal activities are investment
holding and oil palm cultivation. The principal activities of the Subsidiaries and Associates are stated on pages
198 to 203. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year
under review.

RESULTS

Group Company
RM Million RM Million

Profit for the year attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company 537.5 364.6
Minority interests 87.4 -
624.9 364.6

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as
disclosed in the financial statements.

In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the
financial year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual
nature.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors have declared the following single tier dividends in respect of the financial year ended
31 December 2010:

Net dividend
Sen per share RM Million Payment date
First interim dividend 5.0 47.0 28 June 2010
Second interim dividend 10.0 94.0 28 September 2010
Third interim dividend 12.0 112.8 30 December 2010
Fourth interim dividend 12.0 112.8 31 March 2011
39.0 366.6
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DIVIDENDS (CONT'D.)

The fourth interim dividend totalling RM83.9 million or a net dividend of 9 sen per share in respect of the
financial year ended 31 December 2009 as declared in the Directors’ report of that year was paid during the
financial year under review.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report are:

Gen. Tan Sri Dato’ Mohd Ghazali Hj. Che Mat (R)
Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Kamaruddin

Lt. Gen. Dato’ Mohd Yusof Din (R)

Dato’ (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Megat Ahmad
Datuk Azzat Kamaludin

Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Ali

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to
which the Company was a party, whereby the Directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate. Since the end of the previous financial
year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than benefits included in the
aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the Directors as shown in Note 5 to the
financial statements or the fixed salary of a full time employee of the Company) by reason of a contract made
by the Company or a related corporation with any Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member
or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in Note 42 to the
financial statements.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee reviews the remuneration packages, reward structure and fringe benefits
applicable to the Deputy Chairman/Group Managing Director, executive Director and senior executives on an
annual basis and makes recommendations to the Board. The members of the Remuneration Committee are:

Datuk Azzat Kamaludin (Chairman)

Gen. Tan Sri Dato’ Mohd Ghazali Hj. Che Mat (R)
Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Kamaruddin

Dato’ (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Megat Ahmad
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Directors’ Report

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the register of Directors’ shareholding, the interests of Directors in office at the end of the financial
year in shares and warrants of the Company and its related corporations were as follows:

At At
1/1/10 Acquired Sold 31/12/10
Ordinary shares of RMO0.50 each
Boustead Holdings Berhad
Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Kamaruddin 26,122,599 - - 26,122,599
Datuk Azzat Kamaludin 40,000 - - 40,000
Ordinary shares of RM1.00 each
Boustead Heavy Industries Corporation Berhad
Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Kamaruddin 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
Datuk Azzat Kamaludin 495,300 - - 495,300
Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Ali 75,000 - - 75,000
Boustead Petroleum Sdn Bhd
Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Kamaruddin 5,766,465 150,000 - 5,916,465
Affin Holdings Berhad
Gen. Tan Sri Dato’ Mohd Ghazali 91,708 - - 91,708
Hj. Che Mat (R)
Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Kamaruddin 808,714 - - 808,714
Datuk Azzat Kamaludin 110,000 - - 110,000
Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Ali 51,000 - - 51,000
Redeemable preference shares of RM1.00 each
Boustead Petroleum Sdn Bhd
Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Kamaruddin 50 - - 50
At At
1/1/10 Acquired Lapsed 31/12/10
Number of units
Affin Holdings Berhad - Warrants
Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Kamaruddin 1,500 - (1,500) -

None of the other Directors holding office at the end of the year had any interest in shares in the Company or
its related corporations during the year.

104 Boustead Holdings Berhad 2010 Annual Report



ISSUE OF SHARES

During the year, the Company’'s issued and paid up share capital was increased from RM455.7 million to
RM470.1 million by the issuance of 20,512,820 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each at RM1.95 per share
pursuant to the conversion of RM40 million bank guaranteed redeemable convertible bonds and the subsequent
issuance of 8,205,128 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each for cash at RM2.80 per share.

The new shares issued during the financial year rank pari passu with the existing ordinary shares of the Company.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

(a)

Before the income statements and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company were
made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:

(i)

(ii)

to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making
of provision for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off
and that adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts; and

to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their value as shown in the accounting
records in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be
expected so to realise.

(b) At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

which would render the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful
debts in the Group and in the Company inadequate to any substantial extent.

which would render the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group
and of the Company misleading.

which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of
the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

not otherwise dealt with in this report or financial statements which would render any amount stated in
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

(c) As at the date of this report, there does not exist:

105

(i)

(ii)

any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial
year which secures the liabilities of any other person; or

any contingent liability in respect of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of
the financial year.
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Directors’ Report

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION (CONT'D.)
(d) In the opinion of the Directors:

(i)

(ii)

no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within
the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of
the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due; and

no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the
end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of
the operations of the Group or of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS
Details of the significant events are disclosed in Note 43 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS
The auditors, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

GEN. TAN SRI DATO" MOHD GHAZALI HJ. CHE MAT (R)

TAN SRI DATO’ LODIN WOK KAMARUDDIN

Kuala Lumpur
7 March 2011
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Statement by Directors
and Statutory Declaration

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO SECTION 169(15) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965

We, GEN. TAN SRI DATO" MOHD GHAZALI HJ. CHE MAT (R) and TAN SRI DATO" LODIN WOK KAMARUDDIN,
being two of the Directors of BOUSTEAD HOLDINGS BERHAD, do hereby state that, in the opinion of the
Directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 110 to 203 are drawn up in accordance with
Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2010 and of the results and the cash
flows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended.

The information set out in Note 47 to the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profit or Losses in the Context of
Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements as issued by the Malaysian
Institute of Accountants.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

GEN. TAN SRI DATO’ MOHD GHAZALI HJ. CHE MAT (R)

TAN SRI DATO’ LODIN WOK KAMARUDDIN

Kuala Lumpur
7 March 2011

STATUTORY DECLARATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 169(16) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965

|, DANIEL EBINESAN, being the officer responsible for the financial management of BOUSTEAD HOLDINGS
BERHAD do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 110 to 203 are in my
opinion correct and | make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue
of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the above named in Kuala Lumpur on 7 March 2011.

Before me

ZAINALABIDIN BIN NAN DANIEL EBINESAN
Commissioner for Oaths
Kuala Lumpur
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of Boustead Holdings Berhad

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the financial statements of Boustead Holdings Berhad, which comprise the statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2010 of the Group and of the Company, and the income statements,
statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the
Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes, as set out on pages 110 to 196 and pages 198 to 203.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. This
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2010 and of their financial performance and cash flows
of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(@) In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the
Company and its Subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance

with the provisions of the Act.

(b) We have considered the financial statements and the auditors’ reports of all the Subsidiaries which we have
not acted as auditors, which are indicated on pages 198 to 202, being financial statements that have been

included in the consolidated financial statements.

(c) We are satisfied that the financial statements of the Subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the
financial statements of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements and we have received satisfactory information and

explanations required by us for those purposes.

(d) The auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the Subsidiaries were not subject to any qualification and

did not include any comment required to be made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

OTHER MATTERS

The supplementary information set out in Note 47 on page 197 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information
in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses
in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by
the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA Guidance) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In
our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA

Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person

for the content of this report.

ERNST & YOUNG HABIBAH BTE ABDUL
AF: 0039 No. 1210/05/12(J)
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
7 March 2011
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Income Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
Note RM Million RM Million  RM Million RM Million
Revenue 4 6,181.8 5,392.0 426.6 383.4
Operating cost 5 (5,599.8) (4,986.7) (112.4) (108.8)
Results from operations 582.0 405.3 314.2 274.6
Interest income 6 4.2 17.5 2.1 19.8
Other investment results 7 146.6 102.5 158.8 1.4
Finance cost 8 (113.6) (127.0) (68.2) (121.6)
Share of results of Associates 107.0 103.3 - -
Profit before taxation 726.2 501.6 406.9 174.2
Income tax expense 9 (101.3) (83.2) (42.3) (29.5)
Profit for the year 624.9 418.4 364.6 144.7
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company 537.5 341.6 364.6 144.7
Minority interests 87.4 76.8 - -
Profit for the year 624.9 418.4 364.6 144.7
Earnings per share - sen 10 57.5 47.0

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

RM Million RM Million ~ RM Million RM Million
Profit for the year 624.9 418.4 364.6 144.7
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Net gain on available for sale investments
— gain on fair value changes 52.0 - 1.2 -
— transfer to profit or loss upon disposal (2.2) - - -
Foreign currency translation (4.1) 8.9 - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 670.6 427.3 365.8 144.7
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company 582.5 350.3 365.8 144.7
Minority interests 88.1 77.0 - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 670.6 427.3 365.8 144.7

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2010

Group Company
2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

Note RM Million RM Milion  RM Milion RM Million ~ RM Million ~ RM Million
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 2,119.0 2,089.5 1,924.8 9.1 8.1 8.0
Biological assets 13 357.2 356.5 357.1 - - -
Investment properties 14 1,074.7 960.3 763.1 69.5 67.6 60.9
Development properties 15 216.1 220.1 208.4 - - -
Prepaid land lease payments 16 495 50.0 49.9 - - -
Long term prepayments 17 136.1 132.9 134.1 - - -
Deferred tax assets 18 65.5 66.0 68.0 - - -
Subsidiaries 19 - - - 2,408.3 2,612.2 2,645.6
Associates 20 1,165.3 1,087.0 1,045.9 686.9 686.7 689.5
Investments 21 528.0 375.9 524.9 5.3 3.8 4.4
Patrol vessel expenditure 22 455.3 455.3 4553 - - -
Goodwill 23 1,017.0 1,015.1 1,068.5 - - -
Total non-current assets 7,183.7 6,808.6 6,600.0 3,179.1 3,378.4 3,408.4
Current assets
Inventories 24 244.0 234.6 230.8 3.1 1.9 4.1
Property development in progress 25 345 28.9 49.3 - - -
Due from customers on contracts 26 195.9 111.2 76.8 - - -
Receivables 27 1,093.9 9425 1,052.6 137.6 105.0 507.6
Deposits, cash and bank balances 28 4245 396.5 669.5 6.9 13.0 0.8
Assets classified as held for sale 29 91.7 565.5 - 53.5 - -
Total current assets 2,084.5 2,279.2 2,079.0 2011 119.9 5125
Total assets 9,268.2 9,087.8 8,679.0 3,380.2 3,498.3 3,920.9
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Group Company

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
Note RM Million RM Million ~ RM Million  RM Million ~ RM Million ~ RM Million

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to shareholders of
the Company

Share capital 30 470.1 455.7 3265 470.1 455.7 3255
Non-distributable reserves 31 1,708.4 1,498.1 853.8 1,213.6 1,163.6 565.5
Retained earnings 32 2,049.4 1,874.5 1,731.5 459.5 432.6 449.0
Shareholders’ equity 4,227.9 3,828.3 2,910.8 2,143.2 2,061.9 1,340.0
Minority interests 470.8 446.4 385.2 - - -
Total equity 4,698.7 42747 3,296.0 2,143.2 2,051.9 1,340.0

Non-current liabilities

Long term borrowings 33 687.4 310.6 624.7 4317.0 325 425
Payables 34 26.3 25.2 20.2 - - -
Deferred tax liabilities 18 1211 105.8 105.7 1.6 1.8 04
Total non-current liabilities 834.8 441.6 750.6 438.6 34.3 42.9

Current liabilities

Borrowings 33 2,475.8 2,633.8 2,878.7 576.8 976.9 1,193.4
Payables 34 1,100.3 949.9 1,065.5 221.6 435.2 1,308.0
Due to customers on contracts 26 124.6 525.1 630.2 - - -
Taxation 34.0 23.0 214 - - -
Dividend payable - - 36.6 - - 36.6
Liabilities classified as held for sale 29 - 239.7 - - - -
Total current liabilities 3,734.7 43715 4,632.4 798.4 1,412.1 2,538.0
Total liabilities 4,569.5 4,813.1 5,383.0 1,237.0 1,446.4 2,680.9
Total equity and liabilities 9,268.2 9,087.8 8,679.0 3,380.2 3,498.3 3,920.9

The comparative figures for 2008 is as at 1 January 2009. The comparative figures for 2009 and 2008 have been restated following
the reclassification of prepaid land lease payments to property, plant and equipment (Note 1(d)).
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2010

Total
attributable to
Non- shareholders
Share distributable Retained of the Minority Total
capital reserves earnings Company interests equity
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
Group
At 1 January 2009 325.5 853.8 1,731.5 2,910.8 385.2 3,296.0
Total comprehensive income
for the year - 8.7 341.6 350.3 77.0 427.3
Transactions with owners
Acquisition of Subsidiaries (Note 19) - - - - 1.3 1.3
Disposal of Subsidiaries (Note 19) - - - - (1.3) (1.3)
Rights issue during the year (Note 30) 130.2 598.1 - 728.3 - 728.3
Issue of shares by a Subsidiary to
minority interests - - - - 14.4 14.4
Transfer during the year (Note 31) - 37.5 (37.5) - - -
Dividends (Note 11) - - (161.1) (161.1) (30.2) (191.3)
At 31 December 2009 455.7 1,498.1 1,874.5 3,828.3 446.4 4,274.7
Effects of adopting FRS 139 (Note 1(e)) - 93.8 (1.9) 91.9 0.6 92,5
455.7 1,591.9 1,872.6 3,920.2 447.0 4,367.2
Total comprehensive income
for the year - 45.0 537.5 582.5 88.1 670.6
Transactions with owners
Acquisition of Subsidiaries (Note 19) - - - - 20.3 20.3
Additional investment in Subsidiaries - - - - (4.5) (4.5)
Disposal of a Subsidiary (Note 19) - - - - (56.7) (56.7)
Issue of shares
— by the Company (Note 30) 14.4 48.5 - 62.9 - 62.9
— by Subsidiaries to minority
interests - - - - 5.6 5.6
Transfer during the year (Note 31) - 23.0 (23.0) - - -
Dividends (Note 11) - - (337.7) (337.7) (29.0) (366.7)
At 31 December 2010 470.1 1,708.4 2,049.4 4,227.9 470.8 4,698.7

14

Boustead Holdings Berhad 2010 Annual Report



4— Non-distributable —»

Share Share Fair value Retained Total
capital premium reserve earnings equity
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
Company
At 1 January 2009 3255 565.5 - 449.0 1,340.0
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - - 144.7 144.7
Transactions with owners
Rights issue during the year (Note 30) 130.2 598.1 - - 728.3
Dividends (Note 11) - - - (161.1) (161.1)
At 31 December 2009 455.7 1,163.6 - 432.6 2,051.9
Effects of adopting FRS 139
(Note 1(e)) - - 0.3 - 0.3
455.7 1,163.6 0.3 432.6 2,052.2
Total comprehensive income
for the year - - 1.2 364.6 365.8
Transactions with owners
Issue of shares during the year
(Note 30) 14.4 485 - - 62.9
Dividends (Note 11) - - - (337.7) (337.7)
At 31 December 2010 470.1 1,212.1 15 459.5 2,143.2

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2010

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
Operating activities
Cash receipts from customers 6,046.3 5,590.1 117.3 103.2
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (5,812.9) (4,928.9) (113.0) (99.3)
Cash generated from operations 2334 661.2 4.3 3.9
Income taxes (paid)/refunded (60.0) (56.3) 325 26.4
Net cash from operating activities 173.4 604.9 36.8 30.3
Investing activities
Acquisition of Subsidiaries (Note 19) (22.9) (27.1) (0.1) (4.0)
Additional investment in Subsidiaries and Associates (2.8) (1.0) - (2.3)
Disposal of a Subsidiary (Note 19) 1314 (0.7) 362.6
Disposal of Associate 6.0 0.8 6.0 -
Investments purchased (26.5) (94.5) - (0.2)
Deposit paid on proposed acquisition (Note 43(b)) (16.0) - (16.0) -
Proceeds from disposal of investment property - 9.8 - -
Proceeds from disposal of investments 221 34.9 - 1.3
Biological assets and property, plant and equipment
— purchases (264.0) (317.0) (55.9) (1.1)
— disposals 9.1 8.4 - 0.1
Purchase and development of investment properties (72.9) (37.9) - -
Dividends received 56.1 60.9 264.0 283.9
Interest received 4.2 17.5 2.1 19.8
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities (176.2) (345.9) 562.7 297.5
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Group

2010 2009
RM Million  RM Million

Company

2010 2009
RM Million  RM Million

Financing activities
Issue of shares

- by the Company 62.9 728.3 62.9 728.3

— by Subsidiaries to minority interests 5.6 14.4 - -
Dividends paid

— by the Company (337.7) (197.7) (337.7) (197.7)

— by Subsidiaries to minority interests (29.0) (30.2) - -
Proceeds from long term loans 440.6 297.3 4145 50.0
Repayment of long term loans (446.1) (802.3) (60.0) (77.5)
Increase/(decrease) of revolving credits

and bankers’ acceptances 280.2 (153.3) (319.0) (206.0)
Receipts from Group companies - - 365.5 833.3
Payments to Group companies - - (637.3) (1,327.2)
Interest paid (125.3) (180.4) (63.4) (125.8)
Net cash used in financing activities (148.8) (323.9) (574.5) (322.6)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (151.6) (64.9) 25.0 5.2
Foreign currency translation difference - 0.1 - -
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 549.9 614.7 (19.9) (25.1)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 398.3 549.9 5.1 (19.9)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Deposits, cash and bank balances (Note 28) 4245 396.5 6.9 13.0
Overdrafts (Note 33) (26.2) (77.8) (1.8) (32.9)

398.3 318.7 5.1 (19.9)

Deposits, cash and bank balances classified as held

for sale (Note 29) - 231.2 - -

398.3 549.9 5.1 (19.9)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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(A)

(B)

(C)

118

Accounting Policies

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Financial
Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. At the beginning of the current financial year,
the Group and the Company adopted new and revised FRSs which are mandatory for financial periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2010 as described fully in Note 1.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting
policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM) and all values are rounded to the nearest
million except when otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries
made up to the end of the year. The financial statements of Subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting
date as the Company, and uniform accounting policies are adopted in the consolidated financial statements
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains or losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated.

Acquisitions of Subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method. At the date of acquisition, the fair
values of the Subsidiaries’ assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are determined
and these values are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of the assets given, liabilities incurred
or assumed, and equity instruments issued, plus any costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Any excess
of the acquisition cost over the Group's interest in these fair values is reflected as goodwill. Any excess of
the Group's interest in these fair values over the acquisition cost represents negative goodwill, which is
recognised immediately as income in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in Subsidiaries that is not held by
the Group and is presented separately in profit or loss of the Group and within equity in the consolidated
statement of financial position, separate from shareholders’ equity. It is measured at the minorities’ share of
the fair value of the Subsidiaries’ identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date and the minorities’
share of changes in the Subsidiaries’ equity since then.

SUBSIDIARIES
A Subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

In the Company's separate financial statements, investment in Subsidiaries is stated at cost less impairment
losses.
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ASSOCIATES

An Associate is defined as a company, not being a Subsidiary or an interest in a joint venture, in which the
Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but not in control or joint control over those policies.

Investment in Associates is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. Under the equity method, investment in Associates is carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of the Associates,
less distributions received and less any impairment in value of individual investments. The consolidated
income statement reflects the share of the Associates’ results after tax. Where there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of Associates, the Group recognises its share of such changes. Unrealised
gains or losses on transactions between the Group and its Associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in the Associates. When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in an Associate,
the Group does not recognise further losses except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the Associate.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any
additional impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net investment in an Associate.

An associate is equity accounted for from the date the Group obtains significant influence until the date the
Group ceases to have significant influence.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of an Associate, representing the excess of the cost of the investment
compared to the Group's share of the net fair value of the Associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities, is included in the carrying amount of the Associate and is not amortised. To the extent
that the net fair value of the Associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is greater than
the cost of the investment, a gain is recognised and added to the Group's share of the Associate’s profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The most recent available financial statements of Associates are used by the Group in applying the equity
method. Where the dates of the audited financial statements used are not coterminous with those of the
Group, the share of results is arrived at from the last audited financial statements available and management
financial statements to the end of the accounting period. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of the Associate to ensure consistency of the accounting policies used with those of
the Group.

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in Associates are stated at cost less impairment
losses, if any. On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their
carrying amounts is charged or credited to profit or loss.

CURRENCY CONVERSION

The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the functional currency,
being the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is also the functional currency of the
Company. All transactions are recorded in Ringgit Malaysia.
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CURRENCY CONVERSION (CONT’D.)

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency are recorded in the functional currencies using the exchange rates prevailing at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
rates prevailing on the reporting date. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are
measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,
are included in profit or loss for the period except for exchange differences arising on monetary items
that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under foreign exchange currency reserve in equity. The
foreign exchange currency reserve is reclassified from equity to profit or loss of the Group on disposal of
the foreign operation.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period except for the differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. Exchange differences arising from such
non-monetary items are also recognised directly in equity.

The result and financial position of foreign operations that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency (RM) of the consolidated financial statements are translated into RM as follows:

e Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate
prevailing at the reporting date;

e Income and expenses for each profit or loss are translated at average exchange rate for the year, which
approximate the exchange rates at the date of transactions; and

e All resulting exchange differences are taken to the foreign exchange currency reserve within equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from the acquisition of foreign operations are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional currency of the foreign operations
and translated at the exchange rates ruling at the reporting date.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign Subsidiary before 1 January 2006
are deemed to be the assets and liabilities of the parent company and are recorded in RM at the exchange
rates ruling at the date of the acquisition.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

All property, plant and equipment are initially stated at cost. Certain land and buildings are
subsequently shown at valuation less subsequent depreciation and impairment loss.

The Directors have not adopted a policy of regular valuation, and have applied the transitional provisions of
IAS 16 (Revised) Property, Plant and Equipment which permits those assets to be stated at their prevailing
valuations less accumulated depreciation. The valuations were determined by independent professional
valuers on the open market basis, and no later valuations were recorded. All other property, plant and
equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

The revaluation surplus arising from previous revaluation is accumulated in equity under revaluation reserve.
Any impairment loss is first offset against the revaluation surplus in respect of the same asset and the
balance is thereafter recognised in profit or loss.

Freehold land and capital work in progress are not amortised. Leasehold land classified as finance lease is
amortised in equal instalment over the period of the leases ranging from 24 to 99 years. Other assets are
depreciated on a straight line basis to write off the cost or valuation of the assets to their residual values,
over the term of their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 20 - 80 years
Plant & machinery 7 — 20 years
Furniture & equipment 3 - 10 years
Motor vehicles 3 — 10 years

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted
prospectively, if appropriate.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included in
the profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised and the unutilised portion of the revaluation surplus
on that item is taken directly to retained earnings.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

The expenditure on new planting and replanting of a different produce crop incurred up to the time of
maturity is capitalised while the initial costs of planting on the area replanted are charged to
profit or loss.

Depreciation charges and external borrowing costs related to the development of new plantations are
included as part of the capitalisation of immature planting costs. Replanting expenditure incurred in respect
of the same crop is charged to profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred. Plantation development
expenditure is not amortised other than for those planted on short term leases held in Indonesia which are
amortised over the life of the leases.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties which are held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation
or both. Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs, and thereafter are
stated at fair value, which is determined by the Directors by reference to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties, and valuation performed by registered independent valuers having an appropriate
recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the location and category of the properties
being valued. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in
profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.
Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in profit or loss in
the year of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair
value at the date of change in use. For a transfer from owner-occupied property to investment property, the
property is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment set out
in Note (F) up to the date of change in use.

Investment properties under construction (IPUC) are measured at fair value, or where fair value cannot
be determined reliably, are measured at cost less impairment.

The fair value of IPUC is determined at the end of the reporting period based on the opinion of a qualified
independent valuer using either the residual method approach or discounted cash flow approach as deemed
appropriate by the valuer. Each IPUC is individually assessed.

GOODWILL

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised, but instead, it is reviewed for impairment at
least annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the related cash-generating units monitored
by management. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount
including goodwill, an impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that cash-generating
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this
circumstance is measured based on the relative fair values of the operation disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.
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DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT IN PROGRESS
(i) Development properties

Development properties are classified within non-current assets and are stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Development properties comprise land banks which are in the process of being
prepared for development but have not been launched, or where development activities are not expected
to be completed within the normal operating cycle.

Development properties are reclassified as property development in progress at the point when
development activities have commenced and where it can be demonstrated that the development
activities can be completed within the normal operating cycle.

(ii) Property development in progress

Property development in progress comprises cost of land currently being developed together with related
development costs common to the whole project and direct building costs.

Property development revenue and expenses are recognised in profit or loss by using the stage of
completion method when the financial outcome of the development activity can be reliably estimated.
The stage of completion is determined by the proportion that property development in progress incurred
for work performed to date bear to the estimated total property development in progress.

Where the financial outcome cannot be reliably estimated, revenue is recognised to the extent that costs
are recoverable and costs on properties sold are expensed in the period incurred.

Any expected loss on a development project, including costs to be incurred over the defects liability
period, is recognised as an expense immediately.

The excess or shortfall of revenue recognised in profit or loss over billings to purchasers is classified as
accrued billings within trade receivables or progress billings within trade payables respectively.

Property development costs not recognised as an expense are recognised as asset, which is measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be reliably estimated, contract revenue and contract costs
are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by using the stage of completion method. The stage
of completion is measured by reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to
date to the estimated total contract costs.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised
to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as
expense in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

Contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and variation in contract
work, claims and incentive payments to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and
they are capable of being reliably measured.
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CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS (CONT'D.)

When the total of costs incurred on construction contracts plus recognised profits (less recognised losses)
exceeds progress billings, the balance is classified as amount due from customers on contracts. When
progress billings exceed costs incurred plus, recognised profits (less recognised losses), the balance is
classified as amount due to customers on contracts.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognised when
the goods and services are delivered. Revenue from property development and construction contracts is
recognised on the percentage of completion method. Rental income from the letting of properties is
recognised on a straight line basis over the lease terms, while finance charges from hire purchase activities
are recognised over the period of the hire purchase contracts using the effective interest method. Revenue
from rental of hotel rooms, sale of food and beverage and other related income are recognised on an accrual
basis. Tuition fees are recognised over the period of instruction whereas non-refundable registration and
enrolment fees are recognised when chargeable.

Dividends from Subsidiaries, Associates and non-current investments are recognised when the right to
receive payment is established. Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method unless collection is doubtful.

INCOME TAXES
Income tax recognised in profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year and
is measured using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Current taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

e where deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in Subsidiaries and Associates,
where the timing of reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Boustead Holdings Berhad 2010 Annual Report



(M)

(N)

125

INCOME TAXES (CONT'D.)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised except:

e where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with the investments in Subsidiaries and
Associates, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax
assets to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss.
Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill
on acquisition.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes related to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Short term benefits such as wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an
expense in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Short term
accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered
by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short term non-accumulating
compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONT'D.)

As required by law, the Group and the Company makes contributions to the Employees Provident Fund in
Malaysia. Some of the Group’s foreign Subsidiaries make contributions to their respective countries’ statutory
pension schemes. Such contributions are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service
is performed. The Group pays termination benefits in cases of termination of employment. Termination
benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense when the Group has a detailed formal plan for the
termination and is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, cost being determined on the weighted
average basis. Cost includes all incidental costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition; and in the case of produce stocks, includes harvesting, manufacturing and transport charges,
where applicable. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs.
Inventories of completed properties comprise cost of land and the relevant development cost.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group's research and development is undertaken through an Associate, whereby contribution towards
such related activity is recognised as an expense as and when incurred.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group and
the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments.

When the financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of
financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group and the Company determine the classification of their financial assets at initial recognition, and
the categories include loans and receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available
for sale financial assets. The Group does not have any held to maturity financial assets.

(i) Loans and receivables

Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are
classified as loans and receivables. The Group’'s and the Company’s loans and receivables comprise
receivables, deposits, cash and bank balances.

Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, except for those having maturity dates later than
12 months after the reporting date which are classified as non-current.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONT'D.)
(ii) Available for sale financial assets

Available for sale financial assets are financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not
classified in any other categories of financial assets. The Group’s and the Company's available for sale
financial assets comprise investments.

After initial recognition, available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses
from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income, except
that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and interest
calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as
a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised. Interest income calculated using
the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on available for sale equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s and the Company's right to receive
payment is established.

Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost
less impairment loss.

Available for sale financial assets are classified as non-current assets unless they are expected to be
realised within 12 months after the reporting date.

(iii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss if they are held for
trading or are designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial assets held for trading are derivatives
(including separated embedded derivatives) or financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. Net
gains or net losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss do not include exchange
differences, interest and dividend income. Exchange differences, interest and dividend income on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised separately in profit or loss as part of
other losses or other income.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss could be presented as current or non-current.
Financial assets that is held primarily for trading purposes are presented as current whereas financial
assets that is not held primarily for trading purposes are presented as current or non-current based
on the settlement date.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has
expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.
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(Q) FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONT’D.)

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require the delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in marketplace concerned. All regular way
purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date i.e., the date that
the Group and the Company commit to purchase or sell the asset.
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IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
is impaired.

(i)

(ii)

Trade and other receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been
incurred, the Group and the Company consider factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant
financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments. For certain categories of
financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on similar risk characteristics. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s and the Company’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial
assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use
of an allowance account. When a trade receivable becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occuring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its
amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

Available for sale financial assets

Significant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, significant financial difficulties of the issuer or
obligor, and the disappearance of an active trading market are considerations to determine whether
there is objective evidence that non-current investments classified as available for sale financial assets
are impaired.
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IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONT'D.)
(ii) Available for sale financial assets (Cont'd.)

If an available for sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost
(net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from equity to profit or loss.

Impairment losses on available for sale equity investments are not reversed in profit or loss in the
subsequent periods. Increase in fair value, if any, subsequent to impairment loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If
any such indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group
makes an estimate of the asset’'s recoverable amount.

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and its value in use.
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units or CGU).

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to those units or groups of units and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in
the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss except for assets that are previously revalued where the
revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case the impairment is also recognised in
other comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised
previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in
which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. Impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in
a subsequent period.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangement entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability.

Financial liabilities, within the scope of FRS 139, are recognised in the statements of financial position when,
and only when, the Group and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument. Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or
other financial liabilities.

(i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities held for trading include derivatives entered into by the Group and the Company that
do not meet the hedge accounting criteria. Derivative liabilities are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently stated at fair value, with any resultant gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. Net
gains or losses on derivatives include exchange differences.

(ii) Other financial liabilities

The Group's and the Company’s other financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and loans
and borrowings.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified
as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting date.

For other financial liabilities, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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Finance lease

A lease is recognised as a finance lease if it transfers substantially to the Group all the risks and rewards
of ownership. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased
asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also
added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability. Finance charges are charged to profit or loss. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Leased assets are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. However, if there is no
reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life and the lease term.

Operating lease

Leases of assets under which substantial risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight line basis over
the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense over the lease term on a straight line basis.

(W) ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as being held for sale if their carrying amount is
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. These assets are
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell when the sale is highly probable
and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to the
terms that are usual and customary.

(X)

131

PATROL VESSEL EXPENDITURE

The patrol vessel (PV) expenditure comprises design and integrated logistic support cost which relates to the
privatisation agreement with the Government of Malaysia (GOM) for the construction of 27 units of PVs, of
which 6 units have been secured. The expenditure could also be utilised for other patrol vessel projects.

The expenditure was incurred in connection with a current contract in anticipation of obtaining additional
future PV contracts from the GOM.
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Accounting Policies

SEGMENT REPORTING

For management purpose, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their activities,
products and services which are independently managed by the Divisional Directors responsible for the
performance of the respective segments under their charge. The Divisional Directors report directly to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker who regularly reviews the segment results in order to allocate
resources to the segments and to assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of
these segments are shown in Note 35.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE ISSUANCE EXPENSES

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and the
Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instruments.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period
in which they are declared. The attributable incremental transaction costs of an equity transaction are
accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of tax.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences
when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditure
and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially
completed for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that the Group and the Company incurred in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

CONTINGENCIES

A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and whose
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future event(s) not
wholly within the control of the Group.

Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position of the Group and
the Company.

LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS

Long term prepayments comprise mainly prepaid rentals made to service station operators and land
owners in respect of the Group’s service station activities. These prepayments are amortised over the
tenure of the agreements.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

On 1 January 2010, the Group and the Company adopted the following new Financial Reporting Standards
(FRSs), Amendments to FRSs and Interpretations which are mandatory for financial periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2009 and 1 January 2010:

FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

FRS 8 Operating Segments

FRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)

FRS 123 Borrowings Costs

FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

Amendments to FRS 1 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards and FRS 127 Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements: Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate

Amendments to FRS 2 Share-based Payment — Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

Amendments to FRS 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation

Amendments to FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, FRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosure and IC Interpretation 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

Improvements to FRS issued in 2009

IC Interpretation 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

IC Interpretation 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

IC Interpretation 11 FRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions

IC Interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

IC Interpretation 14 FRS 119 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements
and their Interaction

FRS 4 Insurance Contracts and TRi-3 Presentation of Financial Statements of Islamic Financial Institutions
which are also effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 are not applicable to the
Group or the Company.

Effects arising from the adoption of the above standards and interpretations on the financial performance or
position of the Group and the Company are discussed below:

(a) FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Prior to 1 January 2010, information about financial instruments was disclosed in accordance with the
requirements of FRS 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation. FRS 7 introduces new
disclosures of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial
instruments, including sensitivity analysis to market risk.

The Group and the Company have applied FRS 7 prospectively in accordance with the transitional
provisions. Hence, the new disclosures have not been applied to the comparatives. The new disclosures
are included throughout the Group’'s and the Company's financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2010.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)

(b)

(c)

(d)

FRS 8 Operating Segments

FRS 8, which replaces FRS 114 Segment Reporting, specifies how an entity should report information
about its operating segments, based on information about the components of the entity that is available
to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of allocating resources to the segments and
assessing their performance. The standard also requires the disclosure of information about the products
and services provided by the segments, the geographical areas in which the Group operates, and
revenue from the Group’s major customers.

Following the adoption of FRS 8, the reportable segments are presented based on the Group's six
operating Divisions. Both the property development and property investment activities which were
previously presented for external reporting as two segments are managed and reported internally as one
segment. The change affects presentation only, and does not have any impact on the financial position
and results of the Group. The Group has adopted FRS 8 retrospectively.

FRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)

The revised FRS 101 introduces changes in the presentation and disclosures of financial statements. The
revised standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity
includes only details of transaction with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a
single line labelled as total comprehensive income. The standard also introduces the statement of
comprehensive income, with all items of income and expense recognised in profit or loss, together with
all other items of recognised income and expense recognised directly in equity, either in one single
statement, or in two linked statements. The Group and the Company have elected to present this
statement as two linked statements.

In addition, a statement of financial position is required at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period following a change in accounting policy, the correction of an error or the classification of items
in the financial statements.

The revised FRS 101 also requires the Group to make new disclosures to enable users of the financial
statements to evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital (Note 38).

The revised FRS 101 was adopted retrospectively.

Amendments to FRS 117 Leases

The amendments to FRS 117 clarify that leases of land and buildings are classified as operating or
finance leases in the same way as leases of other assets. They also clarify that the present value of
the residual value of the property in a lease with a term of several decades would be negligible and
accounting for the land element as a finance lease in such circumstances would be consistent with the
economic position of the lessee. Hence, the adoption of the amendments to FRS 117 has resulted in
certain unexpired land leases to be reclassified as finance leases. The Group has applied this change in
accounting policy retrospectively and certain comparatives have been restated.
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1. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)
(d) Amendments to FRS 117 Leases (Cont’d.)

The following are effects to the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2010 arising from
the above change in accounting policy.

Group Company
RM Million RM Miillion
Increase/(decrease)
Property, plant and equipment 111.9 1.7
Prepaid land lease payments (111.9) (1.7)

The following comparative figures in the statements of financial position have been restated:

As
previously Increase/ As
reported (decrease) restated

RM Million RM Million RM Million

Group

At 31 December 2009

Property, plant and equipment 1,977.2 112.3 2,089.5
Prepaid land lease payments 162.3 (112.3) 50.0
At 1 January 2009

Property, plant and equipment 1,817.2 107.6 1,924.8
Prepaid land lease payments 157.5 (107.6) 49.9
Company

At 31 December 2009

Property, plant and equipment 6.4 1.7 8.1
Prepaid land lease payments 1.7 (1.7) -
At 1 January 2009

Property, plant and equipment 6.3 1.7 8.0
Prepaid land lease payments 1.7 (1.7) -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)
(e) FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

FRS 139 establishes principles for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and
some contracts to buy and sell non-financial items. The Group and the Company have adopted FRS 139
prospectively on 1 January 2010 in accordance with the transitional provisions. The effects arising from
the adoption of this standard has been accounted for by adjusting the respective opening balances on
1 January 2010. Comparatives are not restated.

The details of the changes in accounting policies and the effects arising from the adoption of FRS 139
are discussed below:

Equity instruments

Prior to 1 January 2010, the Group classified its investments in equity instruments which were held for
non-trading purposes as non-current investments which were stated at cost less impairment losses.
Following the adoption of FRS 139, these investments are designated at 1 January 2010 as available for
sale financial assets which are stated at fair value, other than for investments in equity instruments of
the Group and the Company amounting to RMO0.3 million and RMO.1 million respectively which continue
to be stated at cost less impairment losses as their fair value cannot be reliably measured. The change
has resulted in an increase to their previous carrying amounts recognised as adjustment to the opening
balance of the fair value reserve at 1 January 2010 amounting to RM93.8 million and RM0.3 million for
the Group and the Company respectively.

Non-hedging derivatives

Prior to 1 January 2010, derivative financial instruments are recognised in the financial statements on
settlement date. These instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting under FRS 139. Following the
adoption of FRS 139, derivatives held by the Group as at 1 January 2010 are categorised as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The change has resulted in a charge of RM1.9 million against
the Group's retained earnings at 1 January 2010.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D.)

(e) FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (Cont’'d.)

(f)

The following are the effects arising from the adoption of FRS 139:

Group Company
As at As at As at As at
31 December 1 January 31 December 1 January
2010 2010 2010 2010
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
Increase/(decrease)
Statements of financial position
Available for sale investments 144.2 94.4 15 0.3
Derivative liabilities 15 2.4 - -
Deferred tax assets 04 0.5 - -
Retained earnings (1.1) (1.9) - -
Fair value reserve 143.0 93.8 15 0.3
Minority interest 1.2 0.6 - —
Group Company
2010 2010
RM Million RM Miillion
Increase
Income statements
Other income 0.9 -
Profit before taxation 0.9 -

FRS 140 Investment properties

Previously, the Group classifies an investment property under construction as property, plant and
equipment which is measured initially at cost until construction or development was completed, at which
time it would be remeasured at fair value and reclassified as investment property. Any gain or loss on

remeasurement was recognised in profit or loss.

With the amendment made to FRS 140 which took effect from 1 January 2010, investment property
under construction is classified as investment property. Where the fair value of the investment property
under construction is not reliably determinable, the investment property under construction is measured
at cost until either its fair value becomes reliably determinable or construction is complete, whichever is
earlier. The change in accounting policy which has been made prospectively in accordance with the
transitional provisions of FRS 140, has resulted in an increase and a corresponding decrease of RM6.5
million to the Group’s investment properties and property, plant and equipment respectively.
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STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, new FRSs, Amendments to FRSs and Interpretations
which were issued but not yet effective, for which the Group and the Company have not early adopted are
as follows:

Effective for financial period beginning on or after 1 March 2010
Amendments to FRS 132 Classification of Rights Issues

Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

FRS 1 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards

FRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised)

FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Amendments to FRS 2 Share-based Payment

Amendments to FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
Amendments to FRS 138 Intangible Assets

Amendments to IC Interpretation 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

IC Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements

IC Interpretation 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

IC Interpretation 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

Amendments to FRS 1 Limited Exemption from Comparatives FRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters
Amendments to FRS 1 Additional Exemption for First-Time Adopters

Amendments to FRS 2 Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions

Amendments to FRS 7 Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments

IC Interpretation 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease

IC Interpretation 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers

Improvement to FRSs 2010

Effective for financial period beginning on or after 1 July 2011

Amendments to IC Interpretation 14 Prepayment of a Minimum Funding Requirement
IC Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

Effective for financial period beginning on or after 1 January 2012

FRS124 Related Party Disclosures
IC Interpretation 15 Agreement for the Construction of Real Estate
Amendments to IC Interpretation 15 Agreement for the Construction of Real Estate

The initial application of the above are expected to have no significant impact on the financial statements of
the Group and the Company in the period of initial application except for the new disclosures required under
the Amendment to FRS 7; as well as the changes arising from the adoption of FRS 3, Amendments to FRS
127 and IC Interpretation 15 as discussed below.

The revised FRS 3 introduces a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations occurring
after 1 July 2010. These changes will impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the
period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported results. The Amendments to FRS 127 require that a
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) to be accounted for as an equity
transaction. Therefore, such transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will they give rise to a gain
or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as
well as the loss of control of a subsidiary.
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STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONT'D.)

The changes from revised FRS 3 and Amendments to FRS 127 will affect future acquisitions or loss of
control and transactions with minority interests.

IC Interpretation 15 clarifies when and how revenue and related expenses from the sale of real estate should
be recognised if an agreement between a developer and a buyer is reached before the construction of the
real estate is completed. Furthermore, the Interpretation provides guidance on how to determine whether an
agreement is within the scope of FRS 111 Construction Contracts or FRS 118 Revenue.

The Group currently recognises revenue arising from property development projects using the stage of
completion method. Upon the adoption of IC Interpretation 15, the Group may be required to change its
accounting policy to recognise such revenue at completion, or upon or after delivery. The Group is in the
process of making an assessment of the impact of this Interpretation.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

There were no critical judgements made by management in the process of applying accounting policies that
have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements during the current
financial period.

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. The key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

(a) Impairment of goodwill

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for goodwill at each reporting date.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and at other times when such indicators exist. Goodwill is
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
When value in use calculations are undertaken, management estimates the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The preparation of the estimated future cash flows involves significant
judgement and estimations. While the Group believes that the assumptions are appropriate and
reasonable, significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable
amounts and may lead to future impairment charges. The carrying amounts of goodwill of the Group as
at year end is RM1,017.0 million (2009: RM1,015.1 million). Further details are disclosed in Note 23.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONT'D.)
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Impairment of biological assets and property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the biological assets and property, plant and equipment as
at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, the assets’ recoverable amount or value in use is estimated. Determining the value in use of
biological assets and property, plant and equipment requires the determination of future cash flows
expected to be generated from the continued use and ultimate disposition of such assets. The preparation
of the estimated future cash flows involves significant judgement and estimations. While the Group
believes that the assumptions are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in the assumptions
may materially affect the assessment of recoverable amounts and may lead to future impairment
charges. Any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse impact on the Group’s financial
position and results of operations.

Impairment of loans and receivables

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers
factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtors and default
or significant delay in payments.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are
estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The
carrying amount of the Group’s loans and receivables at the reporting date is disclosed in Note 27.

Property development

The Group recognises property development revenue and expenses in profit or loss by using the stage
of completion method. The stage of completion is determined by the proportion that property development
costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total property development costs.

Significant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the property
development costs incurred, the estimated total property development revenue and costs, as well as the
recoverability of the property development costs. In making the judgement, the Group evaluates based
on past experience and by relying on the work of specialists.

The carrying amounts of the Group's development properties and property development in progress are
disclosed in Note 15 and Note 25.

Construction contracts

The Group recognises construction revenue and costs, including rendering of services, in the profit or
loss by using the stage of completion method. The stage of completion is determined by the proportion
that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs.

Significant judgement is required in determining the stage of completion, the extent of the contract costs
incurred, the estimated total contract revenue and costs, as well as the recoverability of the contract
projects. In making the judgement, the Group evaluates based on past experience and by relying on the
work of specialists and status of negotiation with the counterparties.
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(f)

(9)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses, unused tax credits and unabsorbed capital
allowances to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

Assumptions about generation of future taxable profits depend on management's estimates of future
cash flows. These depend on estimates of future production and sales volume, operating costs, capital
expenditure, dividends and other capital management transactions. Judgement is also required about
application of income tax legislation. These judgements and assumptions are subject to risks and
uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter expectations, which may
impact the amount of deferred tax assets recognised in the statement of financial position and the
amount of unrecognised tax losses and unrecognised temporary differences.

As disclosed in Note 18, the total carrying value of recognised tax losses, tax credits and capital
allowances of the Group was RM65.5 million (2009: RM66.0 million) and the unrecognised tax losses,
tax credit and capital allowances of the Group was RM249.2 million (2009: RM261.0 million).

Patrol vessel (PV) expenditure

Included within the construction costs of the PV is the expenditure in relation to the design and
integrated logistics support costs, which relates to the privatisation agreement with the Government for
the construction of 27 units of PV, of which 6 units have been secured.

These costs are incurred in connection with a current contract in anticipation of obtaining additional
future PV contract from the Government.
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REVENUE
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million  RM Million RM Million
Sale of produce 782.7 612.7 103.9 101.2
Sale of goods 3,5675.3 2,933.3 - -
Ship repair 534.3 117.5 - -
Shipbuilding 571.1 904.1 - -
Sale of development properties 200.7 213.4 - -
Gross insurance premium 925 273.8 - -
Revenue from agency business 55.3 49.3 - -
Rental income 99.5 92.7 7.2 7.1
Hotel operations 102.3 69.9 - -
Tuition fees 85.5 76.3 - -
Gross dividends from quoted shares in Malaysia
— Subsidiaries - - 21.3 22.4
— Associates - - 27.9 26.3
— others - - 0.1 0.1
Gross dividends from unquoted shares in Malaysia
— Subsidiaries - - 257.6 205.3
— Associates - - 85 20.9
— others - - 0.1 0.1
Others 82.6 49.0 - -
6,181.8 5,392.0 426.6 383.4
OPERATING COST
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million  RM Million RM Million
Changes in inventories of finished goods and
work in progress 7.5 11.0 - -
Finished goods and work in progress purchases 3,173.1 2,372.5 - -
Raw material and consumables used 1,282.8 1,428.0 944 90.5
Staff costs 356.2 351.8 10.1 8.4
Defined contribution plans 51.0 48.5 15 1.3
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OPERATING COST (CONT'D.)

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million  RM Million RM Million
Depreciation
— property, plant and equipment (Note 12) 1175 107.2 1.3 0.9
— biological assets (Note 13) 1.3 1.3 - -
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment (2.0) 1.5 - -
Impairment loss — biological assets (Note 13) 2.0 8.8 - -
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments
(Note 16) 0.9 0.9 - -
Amortisation of long term prepayments (Note 17) 6.5 6.8 - -
Investment properties — direct operating expenses 31.8 30.9 2.8 2.8
Net fair value gain on derivatives (1.2) - - -
General insurance underwriting
— reinsurance premiums 42.1 121.7 - -
— net claims incurred 30.5 86.6 - -
Other operating cost 499.8 409.2 2.3 4.9
5,599.8 4,986.7 112.4 108.8
Other operating cost includes:
Rent paid - plantation assets 133.3 130.4 3.6 3.7
— others 26.2 17.3 1.6 1.4
Auditors’ remuneration — statutory audit 25 2.6 0.1 0.2
— non audit fees 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.1
Directors’ fees — current year 0.8 0.8 0.3 0.3
Directors’ remuneration — emoluments 3.1 2.9 0.2 0.1
— benefits 0.6 0.4 - -
Hire of equipment 3.9 1.4 - -
Trade receivables (Note 27)
— Impairment loss 8.5 10.4 - -
— Reversal of impairment loss (6.2) (7.8) - -
Research and development 7.5 6.9 - -
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss — realised (5.4) (10.7) - -
— unrealised 0.3 0.9 - -
Inventories — writedown 7.4 1.7 - -
— writeback (0.8) (8.8) - -
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INTEREST INCOME

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million  RM Million RM Million
Interest income — Subsidiaries - - 2.0 19.5
— Associates 1.3 0.2 0.1 0.1
— others 29 17.3 - 0.2
4.2 17.5 2.1 19.8
OTHER INVESTMENT RESULTS
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million  RM Million RM Million
Gross Dividends
— guoted shares in Malaysia 14.0 33.5 - -
— ungquoted shares in Malaysia 0.1 0.2 - -
Profit/(loss) on sale of investments
— Subsidiaries (Note 19) 75.0 (0.5) 156.7 -
— Associates - 3.5 - 3.2
— others 3.6 7.2 - 0.5
Fair value gain of investment properties (Note 14) 52.1 46.5 1.9 6.7
Impairment loss — loan to Subsidiaries - - - (10.0)
Reversal of impairment loss — Subsidiary - - - 1.0
— Associates 0.2 - 0.2 -
— other investments - 12.1 - -
Negative goodwill recognised 1.6 - - -
146.6 102.5 158.8 1.4
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FINANCE COST

Group

2010 2009
RM Million  RM Million

Company

2010 2009
RM Million  RM Miillion

Interest expense on

Loans from Subsidiaries - - 19.0 67.2
Bank borrowings 133.3 172.2 46.9 544
Bank guaranteed medium term notes 2.3 - 2.3 -
135.6 172.2 68.2 121.6
Capitalised in qualifying assets (22.0) (45.2) - -
113.6 127.0 68.2 121.6

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

RM Million  RM Million

RM Million  RM Million

Tax expense for the year

— Malaysian income tax 92.0 85.2 441 30.9
— Foreign income tax - 0.1 - -
— Deferred tax relating to origination and reversal
of temporary differences (Note 18) 1.1 8.2 (0.1) 1.3
103.1 93.5 44.0 32.2
(Over)/under provision in prior year
— Malaysian income tax (6.2) (8.1) (1.6) (2.8)
— Deferred tax (Note 18) 4.4 (2.2) (0.1) 0.1
101.3 83.2 42.3 29.5

Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory rate of 25% (2009: 25%) of the estimated

assessable profit for the year.
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT'D.)

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before taxation at the statutory income tax rate
to income tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million  RM Million RM Million
Profit before taxation 726.2 501.6 406.9 174.2
Taxation at Malaysian statutory rate of 25%

(2009: 25%) 181.6 125.4 101.7 43.6
Income not subject to tax (29.5) (19.2) (67.7) (21.6)
Effects of share of results in Associates (26.7) (25.8) - -
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 30.1 32.3 10.0 9.2
Tax incentives (40.8) (42.0) - -
Deferred tax assets not recognised during the

year 145 28.8 - -
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses

and unabsorbed capital allowances (26.7) (5.2) - -
Others 0.6 (0.8) - 1.0

103.1 93.5 44.0 32.2
Overprovision in prior year (1.8) (10.3) (1.7) (2.7)
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 101.3 83.2 42.3 29.5

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share of the Group is calculated by dividing the consolidated profit for the year attributable
to shareholders of the Company of RM537.5 million (2009: RM341.6 million) by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year of 935.0 million (2009: 727.0 million). The Group
does not have any potential dilutive instruments as at 31 December 2010.
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11. DIVIDENDS
Dividends recognised in the current financial year by the Company are as follows:

Net dividend
Dividend amount per ordinary share
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million Sen Sen
In respect of financial year ended 31 December
First interim paid on 28 June 2010 47.0 24.4 5.00 3.75
Second interim paid on 28 September 2010 94.0 24.4 10.00 3.75
Third interim paid on 30 December 2010 112.8 51.3 12.00 5.63
Proposed final - 61.0 - 9.38
253.8 161.1 27.00 22.51
In respect of financial year ended
31 December 2009
Fourth interim paid on 31 March and 2 April 2010 83.9 - 9.00 -
337.7 161.1 36.00 22.51

Subsequent to the end of the current financial year, the Directors have declared a fourth interim dividend of
12 sen per share amounting to RM112.8 million in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2010.
The dividend which will be paid on 31 March 2011 will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of
retained earnings in the financial year ending 31 December 2011.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold Leasehold  Plant and
property property  machinery Others Total
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
Group - 2010
Cost or valuation
As previously reported at 1 January 2010 797.6 317.4 569.4 718.5 2,402.9
Effects of adopting FRS 117 (Note 16) - 129.7 - - 129.7
As restated at 1 January 2010 797.6 4471 569.4 718.5 2,532.6
Effects of adopting FRS 140 (Note 14) - - - (6.5) (6.5)
797.6 4471 569.4 712.0 2,526.1
Assets of Subsidiaries acquired (Note 19) - 6.6 75 1.2 15.3
Additions 56.2 59.7 16.9 120.3 253.1
Disposals (0.2) (9.3) (7.2) (13.1) (29.8)
Reclassification 10.5 35.6 0.3 (46.4) -
Transfer to
Biological assets (Note 13) - (2.0) - - (2.0)
Long term prepayments (Note 17) - (3.6) - - (3.6)
Assets held for sale (Note 29) (53.5) (42.1) - - (95.6)
Exchange adjustment - (1.2) (0.7) - (1.9)
At 31 December 2010 810.6 490.8 586.2 774.0 2,661.6
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
As previously reported at 1 January 2010 43.3 58.3 171.0 153.1 425.7
Effects of adopting FRS 117 (Note 16) - 17.4 - - 17.4
As restated at 1 January 2010 43.3 75.7 171.0 153.1 443.1
Charge for the year
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 5) 12.3 18.4 52.8 34.0 117.5
Capitalised in construction cost (Note 26) - 1.6 25 7.4 115
Disposals - (6.4) (6.9) (11.1) (24.4)
Transfer to
Long term prepayments (Note 17) - (1.2) - - (1.2)
Assets held for sale (Note 29) - (3.9) - - (3.9)
At 31 December 2010 55.6 84.2 219.4 183.4 542.6
Net book value
At 31 December 2010 755.0 406.6 366.8 590.6 2,119.0
Accumulated impairment
At 31 December 2010 0.3 - - 2.7 3.0
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D.)

149

Freehold Leasehold Plant and
property property ~ machinery Others Total
RM Million  RM Million ~ RM Million ~ RM Million ~ RM Million
Group - 2009
Cost or valuation
As previously reported at 1 January 2009 772.6 273.8 503.6 623.7 2,173.7
Effects of adopting FRS 117 (Note 16) - 122.5 - - 122.5
As restated at 1 January 2009 772.6 396.3 503.6 623.7 2,296.2
Assets of Subsidiaries acquired (Note 19) - - 1.3 0.6 1.9
Additions 9.2 41.8 53.6 183.2 287.8
Disposals (0.8) (8.4) (27.0) (21.0) (57.2)
Transfer to
Investment properties (Note 14) (1.2) - - - (1.2)
Long term prepayments (Note 17) - (2.4) - - (2.4)
Assets held for sale (Note 29) - - - (2.7) (2.7)
Transfer from long term prepayments (Note 17) - 4.5 - - 4.5
Reclassification 17.8 11.3 36.2 (65.3) -
Exchange adjustment - 4.0 1.7 - 5.7
At 31 December 2009 797.6 447 1 569.4 718.5 2,532.6
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
As previously reported at 1 January 2009 31.6 44.4 142.4 138.1 356.5
Effects of adopting FRS 117 (Note 16) - 14.9 - - 14.9
As restated at 1 January 2009 31.6 59.3 142.4 138.1 371.4
Charge for the year
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 5) 11.8 17.8 48.1 29.5 107.2
Capitalised in construction cost (Note 26) - 1.9 1.9 7.3 11.1
Disposals (0.1) 4.2) (22.1) (20.7) 47.1)
Transfer to assets held for sale (Note 29) - - - (1.1) (1.1
Exchange adjustment - 0.9 0.7 - 1.6
At 31 December 2009 43.3 75.7 171.0 153.1 443.1
Net book value
At 1 January 2009 741.0 337.0 361.2 485.6 1,924.8
At 31 December 2009 754.3 371.4 398.4 565.4 2,089.5
Accumulated impairment
At 31 December 2009 0.3 - - 2.7 3.0
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D.)

150

Freehold Leasehold Plant and
property property machinery Others Total

RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
Company - 2010
Cost
As previously reported at 1 January 2010 0.1 2.4 3.1 9.3 14.9
Effects of adopting FRS 117 (Note 16) - 2.0 - - 2.0
As restated at 1 January 2010 0.1 4.4 3.1 9.3 16.9
Additions 53.4 - 1.0 1.5 55.9
Disposals - - - (0.4) (0.4)
Transfer to assets held for sale (Note 29) (53.5) - - - (53.5)
At 31 December 2010 - 4.4 4.1 104 18.9
Accumulated depreciation
As previously reported at 1 January 2010 - 1.1 0.9 6.5 8.5
Effects of adopting FRS 117 (Note 16) - 0.3 - - 0.3
As restated at 1 January 2010 - 1.4 0.9 6.5 8.8
Charge for the year (Note 5) - 0.1 0.5 0.7 1.3
Disposals - - - (0.3) (0.3)
At 31 December 2010 - 15 14 6.9 9.8
Net book value
At 31 December 2010 - 29 2.7 35 9.1
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D.)

151

Freehold Leasehold Plant and
property property machinery Others Total

RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
Company - 2009
Cost
As previously reported at 1 January 2009 0.2 2.4 2.6 9.8 15.0
Effects of adopting FRS 117 (Note 16) - 2.0 - - 2.0
As restated at 1 January 2009 0.2 4.4 2.6 9.8 17.0
Additions - - 0.5 0.6 1.1
Disposals (0.1) - - (1.1) (1.2)
At 31 December 2009 0.1 4.4 3.1 9.3 16.9
Accumulated depreciation
As previously reported at 1 January 2009 0.1 1.1 0.6 6.9 8.7
Effects of adopting FRS 117 (Note 16) - 0.3 - - 0.3
As restated at 1 January 2009 0.1 1.4 0.6 6.9 9.0
Charge for the year (Note 5) - - 0.3 0.6 0.9
Disposals (0.1) - - (1.0) (1.1)
At 31 December 2009 - 1.4 0.9 6.5 8.8
Net book value
At 1 January 2009 0.1 3.0 2.0 2.9 8.0
At 31 December 2009 0.1 3.0 2.2 2.8 8.1
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D.)

Group

2010 2009
RM Million  RM Million

Company

2010 2009
RM Million  RM Million

Analysis of net book value of properties:
Freehold property

- land 235.9 235.6 - -
— building 519.1 518.7 - 0.1
755.0 754.3 - 0.1
Leasehold property
Long leasehold
— land 929.4 96.0 1.7 1.7
— building 182.7 171.8 1.2 1.3
Short leasehold
— land 11.0 16.3 - -
— building 1135 87.3 - -
406.6 371.4 29 3.0
1,161.6 1,125.7 29 3.1
Analysis of cost or valuation:
Cost 2,526.4 2,397.4 18.9 16.9
Valuation 135.2 135.2 - -
2,661.6 2,532.6 18.9 16.9

Included in the Group's other property, plant and equipment is capital work in progress costing RM257.3
million (2009: RM253.5 million) at the reporting date. The other assets also included under this category are

motor vehicles and furniture and equipment.

Properties stated at valuation are based on independent professional valuation carried out on an open market
basis. As allowed by the transitional provision of IAS16 (Revised) Property, plant and equipment, these assets
continued to be stated on the basis of their previous valuations. The net book value of these revalued
freehold properties that would have been included in the Group’s financial statements, had these assets

been carried at cost less depreciation is RM63.9 million (2009: RM65.3 million).

Additions to the Group’s property, plant and equipment during the year includes the capitalisation of interest

of RM1.2 million (2009: nil).

Pursuant to the sale and leaseback of plantation assets referred to in Note 40 to the financial statements,
the Group will enjoy the continued use of these assets spanning over an area of 45,318 hectares (2009:

48,902 hectares) of plantation land.
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13. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

Group
2010 2009
RM Million RM Million
Group
Cost
At 1 January 437.5 422.8
Additions 3.3 6.6
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 12) 2.0 -
Exchange adjustment (3.7) 8.1
At 31 December 439.1 437.5

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 1 January 81.0 65.7
Charge for the year (Note b5) 1.3 1.3
Impairment (Note 5) 2.0 8.8
Exchange adjustment (2.4) 5.2
At 31 December 81.9 81.0

Net book value
At 31 December 357.2 356.5

Accumulated impairment
At 31 December 65.9 63.9

Additions to the Group’s biological assets during the year includes the capitalisation of interest of RMO0.8
million (2009: RM1.6 million).
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Investment
properties
Completed under
investment construction
properties at cost Total
RM Million RM Million RM Million
Group
At 1 January 2009 763.1 - 763.1
Fair value gain (Note 7) 46.5 - 46.5
Acquisition of Subsidiaries (Note 19) 120.0 - 120.0
Additions 32.3 - 32.3
Additions from subsequent expenditure 4.0 - 4.0
Revision to prior year's additions (6.8) - (6.8)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 12) 1.2 - 1.2
At 31 December 2009 960.3 - 960.3
Effects of adopting FRS 140 (Note 12) - 6.5 6.5
960.3 6.5 966.8
Fair value gain (Note 7) 52.1 - 52.1
Additions 17.1 - 171
Additions from subsequent expenditure 10.7 46.8 57.5
Revision to prior year’s additions (0.9) - (0.9)
Disposal of a Subsidiary (Note 19) (17.9) - (17.9)
At 31 December 2010 1,021.4 53.3 1,074.7
Company
At 1 January 2009 60.9 - 60.9
Fair value gain (Note 7) 6.7 - 6.7
At 31 December 2009 67.6 - 67.6
Fair value gain (Note 7) 1.9 - 1.9
At 31 December 2010 69.5 - 69.5

Investment properties were revalued by the Directors based on independent professional valuations using
the open market value basis. Valuations are performed by accredited independent valuers with recent
experience in the location and categories of properties being valued.
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D.)

Investment properties under construction is carried at cost as management believes that due to the nature
and amount of remaining project risks, its fair value cannot be reliably determined.

Additions to the Group's investment properties during the year include the capitalisation of interest of RMO0.7
million (2009: nil).

15. DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

Group
2010 2009
RM Million RM Million
At | January

Freehold land, at cost 21.8 29.6
Long leasehold land, at cost 10.2 9.9
Development cost 188.1 168.9
220.1 208.4

Transfer from/(to) property development in progress (Note 25)
Freehold land 3.7 (7.8)
Long leasehold land (0.7) 0.3
Development cost (98.7) (16.4)
(95.7) (23.9)
Development cost incurred during the year 91.7 35.6
At 31 December 216.1 220.1
Interest cost capitalised during the year 2.9 1.7

155 Boustead Holdings Berhad 2010 Annual Report



16.

156

Notes to the Financial Statements

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million RM Million  RM Million

Cost
As previously reported at 1 January 184.3 175.6 2.0 2.0
Effects of adopting FRS 117 (Note 12) (129.7) (122.5) (2.0) (2.0)
As restated at 1 January 54.6 53.1 - -
Additions 0.9 - - -
Disposals - (0.1) - -
Exchange adjustment (0.7) 1.6 - -
At 31 December 54.8 54.6 - -
Accumulated amortisation
As previously reported at 1 January 22.0 18.1 0.3 0.3
Effects of adopting FRS 117 (Note 12) (17.4) (14.9) (0.3) (0.3)
As restated at 1 January 4.6 3.2 - -
Charge for the year (Note b5) 0.9 0.9 - -
Exchange adjustment (0.2) 0.5 - -
At 31 December 5.3 4.6 - -
Net book value
At 31 December 49.5 50.0 - -
Amount to be amortised:
Within 1 year 0.9 0.9 - -
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 3.6 3.6 - -
Later than 5 years 45.0 45.5 - -

49.5 50.0 - -
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17. LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS

Group

2010 2009

RM Million RM Million

At 1 January 132.9 1341
Additions 7.3 7.7
Amortisation for the year (Note b) (6.5) (6.8)
Reclassification from property, plant & equipment (Note 12) 24 2.4
Reclassification to property, plant & equipment (Note 12) - (4.5)
At 31 December 136.1 132.9

Long term prepayments comprise mainly prepaid rentals made to service station operators and land owners
in respect of the Group's service station activities. These prepayments are amortised over the tenure of the
agreements.

18. DEFERRED TAXATION

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

RM Million RM Million RM Million  RM Million

At 1 January (39.8) (37.7) (1.8) (0.4)

Effects of adopting FRS 139 (Note 1(e)) 0.5 - - -

(39.3) (37.7) (1.8) (0.4)

Acquisition of Subsidiaries (Note 19) (0.8) - - -

Recognised in profit or loss (Note 9) (15.5) (6.0) 0.2 (1.4)

Transfer to assets held for sale (Note 29) - (3.9) - -

Transfer to liabilities held for sale (Note 29) - 7.7 - -

Exchange adjustment - 0.1 - -

At 31 December (55.6) (39.8) (1.6) (1.8)
Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows:

Deferred tax assets 65.5 66.0 - -

Deferred tax liabilities (121.1) (105.8) (1.6) (1.8)

(55.6) (39.8) (1.6) (1.8)

The deferred tax liability of the Company is in respect of provisions.
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DEFERRED TAXATION (CONT'D.)

The components and movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the Group during the financial year
prior to offsetting are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities — Group

Fair value
gain on

investment Capital
properties allowances Others Total
RM Million RM Million  RM Million RM Million
At 1 January 2009 (4.0) (92.3) (9.4) (105.7)
Recognised in profit or loss (9.1) (0.9) 2.1 (7.9)
Transfer to liabilities held for sale 2.5 - 5.2 7.7
Exchange adjustment - 0.1 - 0.1
At 31 December 2009 (10.6) (93.1) (2.1) (105.8)
Acquisition of Subsidiaries - - (0.8) (0.8)
Recognised in profit or loss (6.4) (14.3) 6.2 (14.5)
At 31 December 2010 (17.0) (107.4) 3.3 (121.1)

Deferred tax assets — Group

Unabsorbed

Tax capital
losses allowances Others Total
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
At 1 January 2009 15.5 35.2 17.3 68.0
Recognised in profit or loss (3.4) (8.7) 14.0 1.9
Transfer to assets held for sale - - (3.9) (3.9)
At 31 December 2009 121 26.5 27.4 66.0
Effects of adopting FRS 139 - - 0.5 0.5
12.1 26.5 27.9 66.5
Recognised in profit or loss 44 2.0 (7.4) (1.0)
At 31 December 2010 16.5 28.5 20.5 65.5
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18. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONT’'D.)
Deferred tax assets which have not been recognised are as follows:

Group
2010 2009
RM Million RM Million
Unused tax losses 152.9 143.0
Unabsorbed capital allowances and agricultural allowances 96.3 118.0
249.2 261.0

The availability of the unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the respective Subsidiaries are subject to no substantial changes in shareholding of these
Subsidiaries under section 44(5A) and 44(5B) of the Income Tax Act, 1967.

19. SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2010 2009
RM Million  RM Million

At cost:

Shares quoted in Malaysia 597.9 597.9
Unquoted shares 1,819.2 2,023.1
2,417.1 2,621.0
Accumulated impairment (8.8) (8.8)
2,408.3 2,612.2
Market value of quoted shares 851.7 993.0
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SUBSIDIARIES (CONT'D.)

The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed from the acquisition of Subsidiaries are as follows:

Group

2010 2009
RM Million  RM Million

Net assets acquired:

Property, plant and equipment (Note 12) (15.3) (1.9)
Investment property (Note 14) - (120.0)
Goodwill (Note 23) (1.9) (10.3)
Current assets (42.5) (8.4)
Current liabilities 12.2 7.5
Non-current liabilities - 3.9
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 18) 0.8 -
Long term borrowings - 76.9
Minority interests 20.3 1.3

(26.4) (51.0)
Previously held as Associate - 18.7
Purchase consideration (26.4) (32.3)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 35 5.2
Cash outflow on acquisition (22.9) (27.1)
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SUBSIDIARIES (CONT'D.)

The effects on the financial position of the Group as at the end of the year arising from the disposal of a

Subsidiary are as follows:

Group

2010 2009
RM Million RM Miillion

Net assets disposed:
Property, plant & equipment 1.6 -
Investment property 17.9 -
Investments 215.9 -
Goodwill 63.7 -
Deferred tax assets 39 —
Current assets 281.5 3.1
Current liabilities (232.5) (0.9)
Deferred tax liabilities (7.7) -
Minority interest disposed (56.7) (1.3)
Profit/(loss) on disposal (Note 7) 75.0 (0.5)
Sale proceeds 362.6 0.4
Cash and cash equivalents disposed (231.2) (1.1)
Cash inflow/(outflow) on disposal 1314 (0.7)
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20. ASSOCIATES

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
At cost:

Shares quoted in Malaysia 624.9 624.9 624.9 624.9
Warrants quoted in Malaysia - 37.3 - 37.3
Unquoted shares 72.3 72.3 62.0 62.0
697.2 734.5 686.9 724.2
Shares of post acquisition reserves 468.1 390.0 - -
1,165.3 1,124.5 686.9 724.2
Accumulated impairment - (37.5) - (37.5)
1,165.3 1,087.0 686.9 686.7

Market value:
Quoted shares 955.6 779.3 955.6 779.3
Quoted warrants - 11.1 - 11.1
955.6 790.4 955.6 790.4

The summarised financial information of the Associates are as follows:

Group

2010 2009
RM Million  RM Million

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 47,769.9 40,801.1
Total liabilities (42,142.5) (35,672.2)
Results

Revenue 2,836.2 2,799.8
Net profit for the year 486.6 459.7

Goodwill included in the carrying amount of the Group’s investment in Associates as at 31 December 2010
is RM40.5 million (2009: RM40.5 million).
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21. INVESTMENTS

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million RM Million  RM Million
Shares quoted in Malaysia 527.7 376.4 5.2 3.7
Unquoted shares, at cost 0.8 0.8 0.6 0.6
528.5 377.2 5.8 4.3
Accumulated impairment (0.5) (1.3) (0.5) (0.5)
528.0 375.9 5.3 3.8

Market value:
Shares quoted in Malaysia 527.7 470.0 5.2 4.0

Prior to 1 January 2010, the investments were carried at the lower of cost and market value, determined
on an aggregate basis.

22. PATROL VESSEL EXPENDITURE

The Patrol Vessel (PV) expenditure comprises design and integrated logistics support cost which relates to
the privatisation agreement with the Government of Malaysia (GOM) for the construction of 27 units of PV,
of which 6 units have been secured.
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GOODWILL
Group

2010 2009
RM Million RM Million
At 1 January 1,015.1 1,068.5
Acquisition of Subsidiaries (Note 19) 1.9 10.3
Transfer to assets held for sale (Note 29) - (63.7)
At 31 December 1,017.0 1,015.1

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the Heavy Industries Division is RM892.3 million (2009:
RM890.4 million) with the remaining goodwill from other Divisions.

Goodwill is allocated for impairment testing purposes to the individual entity which is also the CGU. The
recoverable amount is determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections approved
by the entity’s board of directors covering a five-year period. The projections reflect management expectation
of revenue growth, operating cost and margins based on their recent experience. Discount rate applied to
the cash flow projections are derived from the CGU’'s pre-tax weighted average cost of capital plus a
reasonable risk premium at the date of assessment of the CGU.

The value in use calculation is also highly dependent on the assumption that the contract to construct the
patrol vessels will be awarded as expected by management. A pre-tax discount rate of 7% and a terminal
growth rate of 2% have been applied in the value in use calculations. Based on the sensitivity analysis
performed, management believes that no reasonably possible change in base case key assumptions would
cause the carrying values of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amounts.

For the remaining goodwill, the recoverable amounts were determined based on the value in use calculations
using cash flow budgets approved by each entity's board of directors covering a three-year period. Cash
flows beyond the third year were extrapolated, and the appropriate pre-tax discount rates that reflect each
entity’s cost of borrowings, the expected rate of return and various risks were applied. No impairment loss
was required as at 31 December 2010, as the recoverable amounts were in excess of the carrying amount
of the remaining goodwill.
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24. INVENTORIES

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million

At cost:
Raw materials and work in progress 65.2 79.5 - —
Goods for resale 105.8 94.4 - -
Estate produce 14.1 17.2 2.8 1.7
Completed properties 0.8 9.8 - -
Consumable stores 58.1 33.7 0.3 0.2

244.0 234.6 3.1 1.9

During the year, the amount of inventories recognised as an expense of the Group and the Company
amounted to RM3,484.2 million (2009: RM2,875.9 million) and RM94.4 million (2009: RM90.5 million)
respectively.

25. PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT IN PROGRESS

Group

2010 2009
RM Million  RM Million

At 1 January

Freehold land, at cost 12.4 32.7
Long leasehold land, at cost 5.0 7.6
Development cost 43.6 207.5
61.0 247.8

Cost recognised in profit or loss
At 1 January (32.1) (211.7)
Recognised during the year (125.0) (139.8)
Reversal of completed projects 53.1 319.4
(104.0) (32.1)

Transfer

From development properties (Note 15) 95.7 23.9
To inventories (0.2) (1.1)
Reversal of completed projects (53.1) (319.4)
42.4 (296.6)
Development cost incurred during the year 35.1 109.8
At 31 December 345 28.9
Interest cost capitalised during the year 1.3 4.2
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DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS ON CONTRACTS

Group
2010 2009
RM Million RM Million
Ship repair and shipbuilding
Contract cost incurred to date 6,967.1 6,423.8
Attributable profit 811.0 537.7
7,778.1 6,961.5
Progress billings (7,706.8) (7,375.4)
71.3 (413.9)
Presented as follows:
Due from customers on contracts 195.9 111.2
Due to customers on contracts (124.6) (525.1)
71.3 (413.9)
Included within other receivables (Note 27)
Prepayments - 314
Retention sum on contracts - 1.3
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26. DUE FROM/TO CUSTOMERS ON CONTRACTS (CONT'D.)

The cost incurred to date on construction contracts included the following charges made during the
financial year:

Group

2010 2009

RM Million RM Million

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 12) 115 11.1

Interest expense 15.1 37.7
Operating leases:

minimum lease payment for plant and equipment 6.3 5.5

minimum lease payment for land and buildings 1.2 2.2

Gain on foreign exchange (1.3) (0.1)

Staff cost 18.7 9.1

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 0.1

Amount of contract revenue and contract cost recognised in profit or loss are

as follows:
Contract revenue 1,155.2 1,037.2
Contract cost 789.1 725.3
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27. RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million  RM Million RM Million
Trade receivables 854.5 669.9 0.1 6.4
Allowance for impairment (49.4) (59.7) - -
805.1 610.2 0.1 6.4
Dividends receivable 20.7 38.8 20.9 19.9
Deposits 72.4 75.3 - 3.7
Prepayments 15.5 51.3 0.2 0.4
Income tax receivable 43.8 65.4 25.8 49.9
Advances to smallholders scheme 9.2 12.4 - -
Deposit paid on proposed acquisition (Note 43(b)) 16.0 - 16.0 -
Other receivables 84.6 72.4 2.0 8.7
Amount due from holding corporation 0.3 1.0 - -
Amounts due from Subsidiaries - - 70.1 13.5
Amounts due from Associates 23.7 9.4 25 2.5
Amounts due from other related companies 2.6 6.3 - -
1,093.9 942.5 137.6 105.0

The Group’s normal trade credit terms range from payments in advance to 90 days. Other credit terms are
assessed and approved on a case by case basis. Amounts due from Subsidiaries and Associates are unsecured,
bear interest at a weighted average rate of 5.0% (2009: 5.2%) per annum and are repayable on demand. Amounts
due from other related companies are trade balances which are unsecured and interest free, with repayment in
accordance with normal trading terms.
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RECEIVABLES (CONT'D.)
Ageing analysis of trade receivables

The Company's trade receivables are neither past due nor impaired.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables is as follows:

RM Million

Group - 2010
Neither past due nor impaired 439.5
1 to 30 days past due but not impaired 50.4
31 to 60 days past due but not impaired 37.6
61 to 90 days past due but not impaired 12.2
91 to 120 days past due but not impaired 219.0
More than 120 days past due but not impaired 37.3
356.5
Impaired 58.5
854.5

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good
payment records with the Group. More than 92% of the Group’s trade receivables arise from customers

with more than 3 years of experience with the Group and insignificant losses noted.

None of the Group's trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated during

the financial year.

Receivables that are past due but not impaired

The Group has trade receivables amounting to RM356.5 million that are past due at the reporting date but
not impaired. Of these, RM3.1 million of trade receivables are secured by bank guarantees and deposits at

the reporting date.

In addition, trade receivables due from Government of Malaysia amounted to RM218.4 million at the

reporting date.
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27. RECEIVABLES (CONT'D.)
Receivables that are impaired

The Group's trade receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the movement of the allowance
accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:-

Collectively Individually
impaired impaired Total

RM Million RM Million RM Million

Group - 2010

Trade receivables — nominal 3.0 55.5 58.5
Allowance for impairment (3.0) (46.4) (49.4)
Total - 9.1 9.1

Movement in allowance accounts:-

RM Million
Group - 2010
At 1 January 59.7
Impairment loss (Note 5) 85
Write back of impairment loss (Note 5) (6.2)
Written off (12.2)
Foreign currency translation difference (0.4)
At 31 December 49.4

Trade receivables that are individually impaired at the reporting date relate to debtors that are in significant
financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. The residual carrying value of these receivables are
secured by way of collateral or credit enhancements.
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Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
Deposits with financial institutions 256.7 173.5 - -
Cash held under Housing Development Accounts 35.5 37.9 - -
Cash and bank balances 132.3 185.1 6.9 13.0
424.5 396.5 6.9 13.0

The deposits are on call, and carry a weighted average interest rate of 2.8% (2009: 2.1%) per annum.
The average maturity periods of the Group's fixed deposits with licensed banks are 43 days (2009: 50 days).

Bank balances are monies placed in current accounts with licensed banks which do not earn
any interest.

29. DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE

Assets Liabilities
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
Group
At 1 January 565.5 - 239.7 -
Reclassification of amounts in respect of assets
to be disposed (Note 43(qg)) 91.7 - - -
Reclassification of amounts in respect of a
Subsidiary to be disposed - 565.5 - 239.7
Disposal of a Subsidiary (565.5) - (239.7) -
At 31 December 91.7 565.5 - 239.7
Company

At 1 January - - - -

Reclassification of amounts in respect of assets
to be disposed (Note 43(g)) 53.5 - - _

At 31 December 53.5 - - _
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29. DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE (CONT’D.)

As at 31 December 2010, the assets and liabilities of the disposal group referred to in Note 43(g) are
as follows:

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million RM Million  RM Million

Assets classified as held for sale

Property, plant and equipment (Note 12) 91.7 1.6 53.5 -
Investments - 215.9 - -
Goodwill (Note 23) - 63.7 - -
Deferred tax assets (Note 18) - 3.9 - -
Trade and other receivables - 49.2 - -
Deposits, cash and bank balances - 231.2 - -

91.7 565.5 53.5 -

Liabilities classified as held for sale - -

Trade and other payables - (228.1) - -
Taxation - (3.9) - _
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 18) - (7.7) - -

- (239.7) - -
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SHARE CAPITAL

Company
2010 2009
Million RM Million Million  RM Million
Authorised:
Ordinary shares of RM0.50 each 2,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 500.0
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares of RMO0.50 each:
At 1 January 911.4 455.7 651.0 325.5
Rights issue during the year - - 260.4 130.2
Issue of shares during the year 28.8 14.4 - -
At 31 December 940.2 470.1 911.4 455.7
NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Revaluation
Share & fair value Statutory Other
premium reserves reserve reserves Total
RM Million  RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
Group - 2009
At 1 January 2009 565.5 41.6 136.4 110.3 853.8
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 8.7 8.7
Transfer during the year - - 37.5 - 37.5
Rights issue during the year 598.1 - - - 598.1
At 31 December 2009 1,163.6 41.6 173.9 119.0 1,498.1
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NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES (CONT’D.)

Revaluation

Share & fair value Statutory Other
premium reserves reserve reserves Total
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
Group - 2010
At 1 January 2010 1,163.6 41.6 173.9 119.0 1,498.1
Effect of adopting FRS 139 - 93.8 - - 93.8
1,163.6 135.4 173.9 119.0 1,591.9
Total comprehensive income for the year - 49.2 - (4.2) 45.0
Transfer during the year - - 23.0 - 23.0
Issue of shares during the year 48.5 - - - 48.5
At 31 December 2010 1,212.1 184.6 196.9 114.8 1,708.4
The breakdown of revaluation and fair value reserves are as follows:-
Group
2010 2009
RM Million RM Million
Revaluation reserve 41.6 41.6
Fair value reserve 143.0 -
184.6 41.6

The revaluation reserve represents increases in the fair value of freehold land and buildings, net of tax, and
decreases to the extent that such decreases relate to an increase on the same asset previously recognised

in other comprehensive income.

Fair value reserve represents the cumulative fair value changes, net of tax, of available for sale financial

assets until they are disposed of or impaired.

The statutory reserve is maintained by an Associate
Financial Institution Act, 1989.

in compliance with the provision of the Banking and

The other non-distributable reserves comprise mainly the Group’s share of Subsidiaries’ share premium
arising from the issue of new shares to minority interests.

Boustead Holdings Berhad 2010 Annual Report



32.

33.

175

RETAINED EARNINGS

Under the single tier system which came into effect from the year of assessment 2008, companies are not
required to have tax credits under Section 108 of the Income Tax Act, 1967 for dividend payment
purposes. Under this system, all the Company's retained earnings are distributable by way of single tier
dividends and tax on the Company's profit is the final tax and dividend distributed to shareholders will be

exempted from tax.

BORROWINGS
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
Non-current
Term loans 586.5 1,010.8 325 92.5
Bank guaranteed medium term notes 4145 - 4145 -
1,001.0 1,010.8 447.0 92.5
Repayable in 1 year (313.6) (700.2) (10.0) (60.0)
687.4 310.6 437.0 32.5
Current
Overdrafts 26.2 77.8 1.8 32.9
Bankers' acceptances 163.8 168.8 - -
Revolving credits 1,972.2 1,687.0 565.0 884.0
Short term loans 313.6 700.2 10.0 60.0
2,475.8 2,633.8 576.8 976.9
Total borrowings 3,163.2 2,944 .4 1,013.8 1,009.4

The bank guaranteed medium term notes (MTNs) which were issued in November 2010 comprise two
series with maturity dates ranging from 3 years to 5 years from the date of issue. The MTNs which are
repayable on maturity, have a long term rating of AAA(bg) and bear interest at an effective interest rate of
6.0% per annum. The MTNs are accounted for in the statement of financial position of the Group and the

Company as follows:

2010 2009

RM Million  RM Million

Nominal value 419.0 -
Accrued interest and transaction cost less payments (4.5) -
Carrying amount 4145 -
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BORROWINGS (CONT’D.)

The term loan of a Subsidiary totalling RM87 million (2009: RM238 million) is repayable by quarterly
instalments over a period of 4 years from the date of first drawdown of 6 July 2007. Proceeds from
the contract with the Government of Malaysia were assigned to the loan. All the other borrowings
are unsecured.

Except for a loan of RM39.2 million (2009: RM43.6 million) which is denominated in US Dollars, all
borrowings are denominated in Ringgit Malaysia. Other information on financial risks of the borrowings are

disclosed in Note 36.

PAYABLES
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Miillion RM Million  RM Million RM Million
Non-current
Deposit from tenants 26.1 25.2 - -
Non-hedging derivatives 0.2 - - -
26.3 25.2 - -
Current
Trade payables 665.6 501.6 0.5 0.9
Accrued interest 22.4 12.5 2.1 2.2
Accrued expenses 213.2 142.6 - 0.2
Deposits received 51.4 53.3 1.6 1.5
Retention sum 0.9 1.4 - -
Other payables 1441 226.6 10.5 16.4
Non-hedging derivatives 1.3 - - -
Amounts due to Subsidiaries - - 206.9 414.6
Amounts due to Associates 0.9 4.4 - 0.4
Amounts due to other related companies 0.5 7.5 - -
1,100.3 949.9 221.6 435.2

(a) Trade payables

Included in trade payables is an amount of RM107.5 million (2009: nil) due to the corporate shareholders
of a Subsidiary. Trade payables are non-interest bearing, with normal credit terms ranging from 30 days

to 90 days.

(b) Other payables

These amounts are non-interest bearing, with normal credit terms ranging from 30 days to 90 days.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

Amounts due to Subsidiaries

These amounts are unsecured, bear interest at a weighted average rate of 6.6% (2009: 7.2%) per annum
and repayable on demand.

Amounts due to Associates and other related companies
These are trade balances which are unsecured and interest free with repayment in accordance with normal
trading terms.
Derivatives
Group
2010
Contract/ Fair
notional value of
amount derivatives
RM Million RM Million
Non-hedging derivatives liabilities:
Current
Forward currency contracts 225.7 0.6
Interest rate swap 25.0 0.7
250.7 1.3
Non Current
Interest rate swap 375 0.2
Total derivative liabilities 288.2 15

The Group uses forward currency contracts and interest rate swap to manage some of the transaction
exposure. These contracts are not designated as cash flow or fair value hedges and are entered into for
period consistent with currency transaction exposure and fair value changes exposure. The Group does
not apply hedge accounting.

Forward currency contracts are used to hedge the Group’s purchases denominated in US Dollar which
firm commitments existed at the reporting date.

The interest rate swap is used to hedge cash flow interest rate risk arising from a floating rate bank
borrowing of RM62.5 million. This interest rate swap receives floating interest equal to 3 months KLIBOR
% (2009: 3 months KLIBOR %) per annum, pays a fixed rate interest of 4.35% (2009: 4.35%) per annum
and has the same maturity terms as the bank borrowing.

During the financial year, the Group recognised a gain of RM1.2 million (2009: nil) arising from fair value
changes in derivative liabilities. The fair value changes are attributable to changes in foreign exchange
spot, foreign exchange forward rates and interest rate. The methods and assumptions applied in
determining the fair values of derivatives are disclosed in Note 37.
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SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group’s business is organised based on the activities, products and services
under the following six Divisions:

(a) Plantation Division

The Division is primarily involved in the planting of oil palm and processing of crude palm oil. In
addition, the Division through its Associate, is also involved in the research in oil palm tissue culture
and genetics.

(b) Heavy Industries Division

The Division has its main thrust in the marine sector, both commercial and naval vessels. This Division’s
operations include shipbuilding, fabrication of offshore structures as well as the restoration and
maintenance of vessels and defence related products.

(c) Property Division

The Division is in the business of property development, constructing and leasing out of commercial and
retail properties as well as the owning and operating of hotels. These two segments are managed and
reported internally as one segment, as they are regarded by management to exhibit similar economic
characteristics.

(d) Finance & Investment Division

The Division comprises the investing activity of the Group, in particular the Group's involvement in the
commercial, Islamic and investment banking, stock broking as well as the life and general insurance
business through its Associate.

(e) Trading Division

The main business activity of the Division comprises the owning and operating of the BHPetrol brand of
retail petroleum network. The Division also engages in engineering fabrication, and the trading of building
materials, engineering equipment, chemicals and fast moving consumer products.

(f) Manufacturing & Services Division

The Group’s other operations which are not part of the above five Divisions are grouped here. This
Division is engaged in the manufacture of building materials, pharmaceutical products and confectionary
as well as the business of travel, shipping and education.

Transfer pricing between operating segments are on arms length basis. Inter-segment revenues which
represent rental charge of office premises and trading of the Group’s manufactured goods are eliminated on
consolidation. The Group practises central fund management where surplus funds within the Group are on-
lent, and the interest charge arising from such arrangements are eliminated in full.

The Group's revenue from one major customer amount to RM1,026.0 million (2009: RM744.0 million) arising
from activities of the Heavy Industries Division. The Group operates primarily in Malaysia.

Management monitors the operating results of the six Divisions for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment result is evaluated based on operating profit or
loss set out in the following table:
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Heavy Finance & Manufacturing
Plantation  Industries Property Investment Trading & Services Elimination Total
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million

2010
Revenue
Group total sales 806.5 1,166.0 414.7 109.7 3,309.8 435.8 (60.7) 6,181.8
Inter-segment

sales - - (15.9) (8.8) (36.0) - 60.7 -
External sales 806.5 1,166.0 398.8 100.9 3,273.8 435.8 - 6,181.8
Results
Segment result

- external 155.0 188.9 103.0 (8.4) 98.9 44.6 - 582.0
Interest income 14.8 0.9 6.9 234 15 95 (52.8) 4.2
Other investment

results 16.7 - 50.0 73.6 - 6.3 - 146.6
Finance cost (9.5) (40.2) (24.3) (46.2) (27.1) (19.1) 52.8 (113.6)
Share of results

of Associates 5.7 (3.4) 29 96.0 3.2 2.6 - 107.0
Profit before tax 182.7 146.2 1385 138.4 76.5 439 - 726.2
Income tax expense (101.3)
Profit for the year 624.9
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Heavy Finance & Manufacturing
Plantation Industries Property  Investment Trading & Services  Elimination Total
RM Million  RM Million ~ RM Million ~ RM Million  RM Million RM Million  RM Million ~ RM Million
2009
Revenue
Group total sales 634.0 1,044.5 386.7 309.1 2,693.2 403.3 (78.8) 5,392.0
Inter-segment
sales - - (14.0) (26.4) (38.4) - 78.8 -
External sales 634.0 1,044.5 372.7 282.7 2,664.8 403.3 - 5,392.0
Results
Segment result
- external 19.7 178.5 80.5 31.7 68.1 26.8 - 405.3
Interest income 42.9 1.9 16.4 35.0 6.9 12.0 (97.6) 17.5
Other investment
results 314 - 35.2 26.9 - 9.0 - 102.5
Finance cost (22.6) (40.0) (31.0) (79.6) (32.0) (19.4) 97.6 (127.0)
Share of results
of Associates 49 4.8 4.8 80.8 4.3 3.7 - 103.3
Profit before tax 76.3 145.2 105.9 94.8 47.3 32.1 - 501.6
Income tax expense (83.2)
Profit for the year 4184
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from their operations and the use of
financial instruments. The key financial risks include interest rate, credit, liquidity, foreign exchange
and market price risks. The Group’s overall financial risk management objective is to ensure that the
Group creates value for its shareholders while minimising the potential adverse effects on the performance
of the Group.

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these
risks, which are executed by the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer of the respective
operating units. The Audit Committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk
management process.

It is, and has been throughout the current and previous financial year, the Group’s policy that no derivatives
shall be undertaken except for the use to hedge transaction exposure where appropriate and cost-efficient.
The Group and the Company do not apply hedge accounting.

Interest rate risk

The Group finances its operations through operating cash flows and borrowings which are principally
denominated in Ringgit Malaysia. The Group’s policy is to derive the desired interest rate profile through a
mix of fixed and floating rate banking facilities.

The following tables set out the carrying amounts, the weighted average effective interest rate (WAEIR) as
at the reporting date and the remaining maturities of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments
that are exposed to interest rate risk:
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT'D.)

Interest rate risk (Cont'd.)

1 year 1to 2 2tob
WAEIR or less years years Total

Group Note % RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
At 31 December 2010

Fixed rate

Financial assets:

Deposits 28 2.8 256.7 - - 256.7
Financial liabilities:
Term loans 33 6.4 (105.7) (29.4) (43.5) (178.6)
Bank guaranteed medium term

notes 33 6.0 - - (414.5) (414.5)
Floating rate

Financial liabilities:
Term loans 33 4.4 (207.9) (52.6) (147.4) (407.9)
Overdrafts 33 6.9 (26.2) - - (26.2)
Revolving credits 33 45 (1,972.2) - - (1,972.2)
Bankers' acceptances 33 35 (163.8) - - (163.8)
At 31 December 2009

Fixed rate

Financial assets:

Deposits 28 2.1 173.5 - - 173.5
Financial liabilities:
Term loans 33 5.7 (419.9) (47.6) (67.1) (534.6)
Floating rate

Financial liabilities:
Term loans 33 4.5 (280.3) (72.8) (123.1) (476.2)
Overdrafts 33 6.5 (77.8) - - (77.8)
Revolving credits 33 3.9 (1,687.0) - - (1,687.0)
Bankers' acceptances 33 3.0 (168.8) - - (168.8)
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Interest rate risk (Cont'd.)

1 year 1to 2 2to5
WAEIR or less years years Total

Company Note % RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million
At 31 December 2010
Fixed rate
Financial liabilities
Term loans 33 6.9 (10.0) (10.0) (12.5) (32.5)
Bank guaranteed medium term

notes 33 6.0 - - (414.5) (414.5)
Floating rate
Financial assets
Amounts due from Subsidiaries 27 5.0 70.1 - - 70.1
Amounts due from Associates 27 6.0 25 - - 25
Financial liabilities
Overdrafts 33 7.1 (1.8) - - (1.8)
Revolving credits 33 4.5 (565.0) - - (565.0)
Amounts due to Subsidiaries 34 6.6 (206.9) - - (206.9)
At 31 December 2009
Fixed rate
Financial liabilities
Term loans 33 6.9 (10.0) (10.0) (22.5) (42.5)
Floating rate
Financial assets
Amounts due from Subsidiaries 27 5.1 13.5 - - 13.5
Amounts due from Associates 27 6.0 2.5 - - 25
Financial liabilities
Term loans 33 3.6 (50.0) - - (50.0)
Overdrafts 33 6.8 (32.9) - - (32.9)
Revolving credits 33 4.0 (884.0) - - (884.0)
Amounts due to Subsidiaries 34 7.2 (414.6) - - (414.6)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT'D.)
Interest rate risk (Cont'd.)

Interest on borrowings that are subject to floating rates are contractually repriced within a year. Interest on
financial instruments at fixed rates are fixed until the maturity of the instruments. The other financial
instruments of the Group and the Company that are not included in the above tables are not subject to
interest rate risks except as discussed below.

The Group had entered into interest rate swap contract to hedge exposure to movements in interest rate
on a financing transaction. The differential in interest rates to be paid over the term of the financing is
recognised in the profit or loss as part of interest expense. As at the reporting date, the notional amount
and maturities are as follows:

RM Million
Group - 2010
Notional amount of interest rate swap:
Not more than 1 year 25.0
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 37.5
62.5

The interest rate swap will mature over 10 quarterly maturity periods commencing from 5 February 2011
with the fixed interest rate of 4.35% per annum.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points lower/higher, with all other variables held
constant, the Group's and the Company’s profit net of tax would have been RM9.6 million and RM2.6 million
higher/lower respectively, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest expense on floating rate loans
and borrowings, higher/lower interest income from floating rate fixed deposits and lower/higher positive fair
value of an interest rate swap. The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate sensitivity analysis
is based on a prudent estimate of the current market environment.

Liquidity risk
The Group practises prudent liquidity risk management by maintaining availability of funding through adequate
amount of committed credit facilities.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and Company’s liabilities at the reporting
date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT'D.)
Liquidity risk (Cont'd.)

On demand
or within One to
one year five years Total

Note RM Million RM Million RM Million

Group - 2010

Financial liabilities:

Due to customer on contracts 26 124.6 - 124.6
Trade and other payables 34 1,099.0 26.1 1,125.1
Loans and borrowings 33 2,588.4 787.4 3,375.8
Derivatives 34 1.3 0.2 15
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 3,813.3 813.7 4,627.0

Company - 2010

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables 34 221.6 - 221.6
Loans and borrowings 33 603.0 527.8 1,130.8
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 824.6 527.8 1,352.4
Credit risk

The Group seeks to invest cash assets safely and profitably. The Group also seeks to control credit risk by
setting counterparty limits, obtaining bank guarantees where appropriate; and ensuring that sale of products
and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history, and monitoring customers’ financial
standings through periodic credit reviews and credit checks at point of sales. The Group considers the risk
of material loss in the event of non-performance by a financial counterparty to be unlikely.

Exposure to credit risk

At the reporting date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by
the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statements of financial position,
including derivatives with positive fair values.

Credit risk concentration profile

As at 31 December 2010, the Group has a significant concentration of credit risk in the form of outstanding
balance due from the Government of Malaysia, representing approximately 48.4% (2009: 39.8%) of the
Group's total net trade receivables.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT'D.)
Credit risk (Cont’'d.)
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Information regarding trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is disclosed in Note
27. Deposits with banks and other financial institutions, investment securities and derivatives that are neither
past due nor impaired are entered into or placed with reputable financial institutions or companies with high
credit ratings and no history of default.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 27.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of its normal operating activities, both external and
intra-Group where the currency denomination differs from the local currency, Ringgit Malaysia. The Group's
policy is to minimise the exposure of overseas operating Subsidiaries/activities to transaction risks by
matching local currency income against local currency cost. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily
US Dollar and Euro. Foreign exchange exposures are kept to an acceptable level.

The net unhedged financial assets and liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in their functional
currency are as follows:

Deposit,
cash and
bank
balances Receivables Payables Borrowings Total

RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million

At 31 December 2010

US Dollar 3.1 40.6 (239.4) (39.2) (234.9)
Euro 1.1 230.2 (171.7) - 59.6
Others 0.4 4.3 (8.8) - (4.1)

4.6 275.1 (419.9) (39.2) (179.4)

At 31 December 2009

US Dollar 3.9 22.3 (187.4) (43.6) (204.8)
Euro 5.9 2.0 (12.4) - (4.5)
Others - 1.9 (6.2) - (4.3)

9.8 26.2 (206.0) (43.6) (213.6)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT'D.)
Foreign currency risk (Cont'd.)
Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

Impact arising from a reasonably possible change in the US Dollar and Euro exchange rates of 10% against
the respective functional currencies of the Group's entities would be minimal.

Market price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from its investment in quoted equity instruments. All of
the Group's quoted equity instruments are listed on Bursa Malaysia. These instruments are classified as
available-for-sale financial assets.

Sensitivity analysis for equity price risk

At the reporting date, if the FTSE Bursa Malaysia KLCI had been 5% higher/lower, with all other variables
held constant, the impact to the Group’s other reserve in equity would be minimal.
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Determination of fair value
Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value

The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying
amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value:

Note
Trade and other receivables (current) 27
Amount due from holding corporation 27
Amounts due from Subsidiaries 27
Amounts due from Associates 27
Amounts due from other related companies 27
Trade and other payables (current) 34
Other payables (non-current) 34
Amounts due to Subsidiaries 34
Amounts due to Associates 34
Amounts due to other related companies 34
Borrowings (current) 33
Borrowings (non-current) 33

The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values,
either due to their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market
interest rates on or near the reporting date.

The carrying amount of the current portion of borrowings are reasonable approximations of fair values due
to the insignificant impact of discounting.

The fair value of current loans and borrowings are estimated by discounting expected future cash flows
at market incremental lending rate for similar types of lending or borrowing arrangements at the
reporting date.

Amounts due from/to Subsidiaries, amounts due from/to Associates and fixed rate bank borrowings

The fair values of these financial instruments are estimated by discounting expected future cash flows
at market incremental lending rate for similar types of lending or borrowing arrangements at the
reporting date.
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D.)

Determination of fair value (Cont'd.)

Quoted equity instruments

Fair value is determined directly by reference to their published market closing price at the reporting date.

Derivatives

Forward currency contracts and interest rate swap contracts are valued using a valuation technique with
market observable inputs. The most frequently applied valuation technigues include forward pricing and swap
models, using present value calculations. The models incorporate various inputs including foreign exchange
spot and forward rates and interest rate curves.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating
and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is derived by dividing the amount of borrowings
(Note 33) over shareholders’ equity. At the reporting date, the Group’s gearing ratio is 0.75 times (2009: 0.78
times). The Group's policy is to keep gearing within manageable levels.

With respect to banking facilities that the Group has with certain financial institutions, the Group is
committed to ensure that the maximum gearing ratio limit of 1.5 times calculated by dividing the amount of
borrowings (Note 33) over the aggregate of the equity held by shareholders and minority interests is complied
with at all times.
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Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million RM Million  RM Million

Authorised and contracted

Acquisition of a Subsidiary 599.1 - 599.1 -
Additional investment in an Associate - 7.0 - -
Capital expenditure 368.2 311.0 - -

967.3 318.0 599.1 -

Authorised but not contracted

Acquisition of a Subsidiary 100.0 - 100.0 -
Capital expenditure 300.2 490.0 1.2 3.1
400.2 490.0 101.2 3.1

OPERATING LEASE OBLIGATION
Group as a lessee

The Group has an operating lease obligation resulting from the following sale and leaseback arrangements:

(a)

On 11 December 2008, the Group sold to Al-Hadharah Boustead REIT (Boustead REIT) its beneficial
rights, title and interest in Bebar Estate and Malakoff Estate. Following the disposal, the Group entered
into several ljarah agreements with the trustee of Boustead REIT to rent these plantation assets for a
non-cancellable period of four years, commencing 1 January 2009. The tenancy is further renewable for
a maximum period of 24 years.

On 27 June 2007, the Group sold to Boustead REIT its beneficial rights, title and interest in Lepan Kabu
Estate and Lepan Kabu Mill. Following the disposal, the Group entered into several ljarah agreements
with the trustee of Boustead REIT to rent these plantation assets for a cumulative tenure of up to thirty
years. The ljarah agreements which commenced on 1 July 2007 are for a lease period of three years
renewable for five additional terms of not more than three years each. The ljarah arrangement for the
first two tenancy periods of three years each totalling six years is non-cancellable.

On 29 December 2006, the Group sold its beneficial rights, title and interest in eight oil palm estates and
a palm oil mill to Boustead REIT. The Group had also entered into several ljarah agreements with the
trustee of Boustead REIT to rent these plantation assets for a cumulative tenure of up to thirty years. The
ljlarah agreements which commenced on 1 January 2007 are for a lease period of three years renewable
for five additional terms of not more than three years each. The ljarah arrangement for the first two
tenancy periods of three years each totalling six years is non-cancellable.
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OPERATING LEASE OBLIGATION (CONT'D.)

(d) On 7 November 2005, the Group had entered into three Master ljarah Agreements with Golden Crop
Returns Berhad (GCRB) for the leaseback of plantation assets comprising 18 estates and 5 palm oil mills
for lease periods of three, five and seven years. Concurrent with the execution of these Master ljarah
Agreements, the Group paid a deposit of RM300,000 for three call options (Call Options) under which
the Group is entitled to call on GCRB to sell the plantation assets to the Group based on the terms of
the Call Options at an exercise price equivalent to the fair value of the plantation assets at the time of
the exercise of the Call Options. At the reporting date, the Group has exercised two of the Call Options
to purchase several plantation assets and the applicable ljarah Agreements had lapsed. The third and

final Call Option is exercisable in 2012.

In addition, a Subsidiary has several non-cancellable operating lease agreements for the use of land and
buildings. These leases have an average life between 3 to 30 years with renewal option included in the
contracts. In the financial year ended 31 December 1996, the Government of Malaysia and the
Subsidiary had finalised the lease agreement relating to the corporation of the Royal Malaysian Navy
Dockyard. The agreement grants the Subsidiary a lease of 30 years from 1 September 1991 at a yearly rent

of RM1 for the first five years, subject to revision thereafter.

The non-cancellable operating lease commitments arising from the above are as follows:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million RM Million  RM Million
Within 1 year 115.0 120.0 - 3.3
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 118.8 228.2 - -
Later than 5 years 20.7 16.1 - -
254.5 364.3 - 3.3

Group as a lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment properties. These non-cancellable
leases have remaining lease terms of between one and four years. All leases include a clause to enable
upward revision of the rental charge upon renewal of the leases based on prevailing market conditions.

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases at the reporting date are as follows:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Miillion
Within 1 year 64.9 79.2 5.9 5.8
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 92.0 128.5 3.8 8.5
156.9 207.7 9.7 14.3
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CONTINGENT LIABILITY

There is a pending claim by Zaitun Marketing Sdn Bhd (Zaitun) against a Subsidiary, Boustead Eldred Sdn
Bhd (BESB) for goods sold, delivered and invoiced together with costs and interests. The High Court had on
21 July 2010, dismissed Zaitun's claim against BESB and allowed BESB's counter-claim of RM8.8 million
against Zaitun. Zaitun was also ordered to pay back BESB's portion of fees paid to a special auditor in the
sum of RM157,037. On 19 August 2010, Zaitun filed their Notice of Appeal at the Court of Appeal. Hearing
date for the appeal will be set after the High Court makes available its grounds of judgement, which are still
pending. Meanwhile, BESB has taken steps to recover against Zaitun the judgement sum and BESB'’s portion
of fees paid to the special auditor. As Zaitun has already been wound up (by another creditor), BESB has
filed a Proof of Debt with the Official Receiver.

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control
the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operational decisions, or vice
versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common control or common significant influence.
Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

Related parties of the Group include:
(a) direct and indirect Subsidiaries;

(b) holding corporation, Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera (LTAT) and its subsidiaries; direct and indirect
Associates;

(c) direct and indirect Associates;

(d) key management personnel which comprises persons (including the Directors of the Company) having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group directly or
indirectly; and

(e) firms in which Directors have a substantial interest, namely MAA Arkitek and Azzat & lIzzat, being firms
in which the Company’s Directors Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Ali and Datuk Azzat Kamaludin have a substantial
interest in the respective firms.
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42. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONT’D.)
Significant related party transactions other than those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements are

as follows:
Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million RM Million RM Million

Associates
Agricultural research and advisory services paid 6.6 6.6 - -
Insurance premium paid 1.1 0.9 0.2 -
Rental income on office premises 14.2 14.7 - -
Sales of goods 0.2 0.5 - -
Professional fees paid 4.0 0.5 4.0 0.4
Insurance commission received 15 - - -

Subsidiaries of holding corporation

Purchase of goods for sale 4.3 1.8 - -
Sales of goods 12.0 8.4 - -
Revenue from construction contracts - 9.5 - -
Provision of project management services 1.2 0.8 - -
Rental expense

— Hotel 10.5 - - -
— Office premises 1.1 0.9 - -
Marketing cost 1.2 - - -

Key management personnel
Sale of development properties 12.7 - - -

Firms in which Directors have a substantial
interest

Legal & professional fees paid 1.7 4.5 0.1 0.1

The Directors are of the opinion that the above transactions are in the normal course of business and at
terms mutually agreed between parties.
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SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONT'D.)
The remuneration of key management personnel during the financial year is as follows:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RM Million RM Million  RM Million RM Million
Directors
Fees 0.8 0.8 0.3 0.3
Remuneration 25 2.4 0.2 0.1
Defined contribution plans 04 0.4 - -
Meeting allowances 0.2 0.1 - -
Estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind 0.6 0.4 - -
4.5 4.1 0.5 0.4
Other key management personnel
Short term employee benefits 28.8 28.5 24 2.2
Defined contribution plans 3.3 3.4 0.3 0.3
321 31.9 2.7 2.5
Total paid to key management personnel 36.6 36.0 3.2 2.9

Pursuant to agreements between a Subsidiary, its directors and person connected to the director for the sub-
lease of 12,140.6 hectares of leasehold plantation land for a total consideration of RM39 million, the Subsidiary
had sub-leased 7,256 (2009: 7,256) hectares of the leasehold plantation land as at 31 December 2010.

Balances at year end are as follows:

Group
2010 2009
RM Miillion RM Million
Deposit paid 3.2 3.2
Retention sum and balance due (2.2) (2.2)
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(a)

On 30 April 2010, the Company disposed of its entire 80% interest in BH Insurance (Malaysia)
Berhad comprising 85,814,232 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each for a total cash consideration of
RM362.6 million.

On 11 June 2010, the Company had entered into a conditional share sale and purchase agreement (SPA)
with UEM Group Berhad (UEM) for the proposed acquisition of UEM's entire equity interest in
Pharmaniaga Berhad (Pharmaniaga) comprising 92,868,619 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each representing
86.81% in Pharmaniaga at a price of RM5.75 per share or RM534.0 million. A deposit of RM16.0 million
equal to 3% of the purchase consideration was paid upon signing of the SPA. Upon completion of the
proposed acquisition, the Company would be obliged to undertake a mandatory take-over offer for the
remaining 14,109,169 shares representing approximately 13.19% of the existing issued and paid-up share
capital of Pharmaniaga not already owned by BHB. The proposed acquisition is expected to complete
during the first quarter of 2011, where the balance consideration totalling RM518 million will be paid.
The mandatory take-over of the remaining interest in Pharmaniaga is expected to complete during the
1st half of 2011.

On 17 July 2010, Boustead Linear Corporation Sdn Bhd became a wholly owned Subsidiary of the Group
upon the acquisition of the remaining 40% interest comprising 4.8 million ordinary shares of RM1 each
in the company for a total cash consideration of RM2.5 million.

On 13 August 2010, Boustead Heavy Industries Corporation Berhad via its wholly owned subsidiary BHIC
Defence Technologies Sdn Bhd, acquired 2,550,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in Contraves
Advanced Devices Sdn Bhd (CAD) representing 51% of the issued and paid up capital of CAD for a cash
consideration of RM25.9 million.

During the year, the Group’s equity interest in Midas Mayang Sdn Bhd was increased from 49% to
80%, upon the subscription of 7,999,951 new ordinary shares of RM1.00 each which were issued at par
for cash.

On 2 November 2010, the Company had executed agreements to undertake a RM1 Billion bank
guaranteed medium term notes (MTNs) programme. The bank guaranteed MTNs programme which will
have tenures of up to 7 years from the first issuance date, have been assigned a long term rating of
AAA(bg) by Malaysian Rating Corporation Berhad. The Company had issued RM419 million of MTNs in
November 2010.

On 11 November 2010, the Group announced its intention to undertake a sale and leaseback arrangement
which would entail the disposal of Plantation Assets comprising Sutera Estate and TRP Estate including
Trong Oil Mill to Al-Hadharah Boustead REIT (Boustead REIT) and the lease of the Plantation Assets by
Boustead REIT back to Boustead Holdings Berhad or any of its wholly owned Subsidiaries at lease
payments and periods to be determined in due course. The sale consideration of RM189.2 million will
be settled through cash. The sale & purchase agreement and the lease agreement are currently being
finalised and shall be entered into in due course.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS (CONT'D.)

(h) On 22 December 2010, the Company entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with DRIR Equities
Sdn Bhd and Tulus Sejagat Sdn Bhd with the intention to acquire 10,200,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00
each representing 51% equity in MHS Aviation Berhad (MHS). The proposed acquisition of MHS shall
not exceed RM100 million subject to the results of a due diligence. A formalised sale and purchase
agreement in respect of the proposed acquisition of MHS will be entered into in due course.

HOLDING CORPORATION

The holding corporation is Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera, a local statutory body established under the
Tabung Angkatan Tentera Act, 1973.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Comparative figures as at 1 January 2009 and 31 December 2009 have been reclassified to conform with
the current year's presentation pursuant to the retrospective application of FRS 117 Leases as set out in
Note 1(d) to the financial statements.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUANCE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
These financial statements were authorised for issuance by the Board of Directors on 7 March 2011.
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47. DISCLOSURE OF REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS

On 25 March 2010, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (Bursa Malaysia) issued a directive to all listed issuers
pursuant to Paragraphs 2.06 and 2.23 of Bursa Malaysia Main Market Listing Requirements. The directive
requires all listed issuers to disclose the breakdown of the unappropriated profit or accumulated losses as
at the end of the reporting period, into realised and unrealised profits or losses.

The breakdown of the retained earnings of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2010, into
realised and unrealised profits, pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad's Directive Ref: LD26/10 dated
20 December 2010 is tabulated below:

Group Company
RM Million RM Miillion

Total retained earnings of the Company and Subsidiaries

Realised 1,969.9 446.3

Unrealised 155.3 13.2
2,125.2 459.5

Total share of retained earnings of Associates

Realised 459.4 -

Unrealised 8.7 -
2,593.3 459.5

Consolidation adjustments (543.9) -
2,049.4 459.5

The determination of realised and unrealised profits is compiled based on Guidance of Special Matter No.1,
Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants on
20 December 2010.

The disclosure of realised and unrealised profits above is solely for complying with the disclosure requirements
stipulated in the directive of Bursa Malaysia and should not be applied for any other purposes.

197 Boustead Holdings Berhad 2010 Annual Report



Boustead

Group

Group interest %

Name of company* Principal activities Paid-up capital 2010 2009

As at 31 December 2010

SUBSIDIARIES

Boustead Plantations Berhad Investment holding and oil RM124,521,383 100 100
palm cultivation

Boustead Properties Berhad Investment holding and RM255,199,031 100 100
property investment

Boustead Heavy Industries Corporation Investment holding RM248,457,612 65 65

Berhad

Boustead Naval Shipyard Sdn Bhd Construction, repair and RM130,000,003 82 82
maintenance of naval and
merchant ships

UAC Berhad** Fibre cement products RM74,408,000 65 65

Boustead Rimba Nilai Sdn Bhd Cultivation and processing of ~ RM100,000,000 100 100
oil palm

Bounty Crop Sdn Bhd Investment holding RM70,200,000 100 100

Boustead Segaria Sdn Bhd Oil palm cultivation RM18,000,520 100 100

Boustead Emastulin Sdn Bhd Cultivation and processing of RM17,000,000 100 100
oil palm and automobile
dealership

Boustead Credit Sdn Bhd Hire purchase and lease RM15,000,000 100 100
financing

Boustead Eldred Sdn Bhd Oil palm cultivation RM15,000,000 100 100

Boustead Engineering Sdn Bhd Engineering equipment and RM8,000,000 100 100
chemicals distributor

Boustead Trunkline Sdn Bhd Oil palm cultivation RM7,000,000 100 100

Boustead Sutera Sdn Bhd Oil palm cultivation RM4,250,000 100 100

Boustead Global Trade Network Sdn Bhd Warehouse logistics and RM3,000,000 100 100
insurance agent

Boustead Gradient Sdn Bhd Cultivation and processing of RM3,000,000 100 100
oil palm

Boustead Weld Quay Sdn Bhd Property investment RM100,000,000 100 100

RM5,500,000 100 100
RM1,050,000 100 100
RM3,000,000 100 100

Boustead Travel Services Sdn Bhd
Boustead Estates Agency Sdn Bhd
Boustead Management Services Sdn Bhd Management services

Travel agent
Plantation management
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Group interest %

Principal activities 2010 2009

Name of company* Paid-up capital

RM1,000,000 100 100
RM1,000,000 100 100

RM10,000,000 100 100
RM4,500,000 100 100
RM75,000,000 100 100
RM30,000,000 100 100
RM150,000,000 100 100
RM30,000,000 100 100
RM75,000,000 100 100
RM100,000,000 100 100
RM20,000,000 100 100
RM500,002 100 100

Boustead Information Technology Sdn Bhd Computer services
Boustead Construction Sdn Bhd Project management

Boustead Silasuka Sdn Bhd
Boustead Sungai Manar Sdn Bhd
Mutiara Rini Sdn Bhd

Boustead Balau Sdn Bhd
Boustead Curve Sdn Bhd
Damansara Entertainment Centre Sdn Bhd Property investment
Boustead Hotels & Resorts Sdn Bhd
Boustead Realty Sdn Bhd

Boustead Weld Court Sdn Bhd

Boustead Advisory and Consultancy
Services Sdn Bhd

Boustead Shipping Agencies Sdn Bhd
Boustead Solandra Sdn Bhd

Oil palm cultivation
Oil palm cultivation
Property developer
Property developer
Property investment

Hotel operations
Property investment
Property investment
Plantation management

Shipping agent RM2,000,000 100 100

Oil palm cultivation

RM200,000 100 100

AB Shipping Sdn Bhd Shipbroker RM45,000 100 100
Bestari Marine Sdn Bhd Marine surveys and RM35,000 100 100
consultancy
Boustead Teluk Sengat Sdn Bhd Cultivation and processing of RM9,184,000 100 100
(formerly known as Boustead oil palm
Heah Joo Seang Sdn Bhd)
Boustead Sedili Sdn Bhd QOil palm cultivation RM®6,150,000 70 70
Boustead Building Materials Sdn Bhd Building products distributor RM10,000,000 100 100
and project management
PT Dendymarker Indahlestari+** Cultivation and processing Rp160,067,000,000 929 99
of oil palm
Boustead Kanowit Oil Mill Sdn Bhd Processing of oil palm RM30,000,000 70 70
Midas Mayang Sdn Bhd Property investment RM10,000,000 80 49
Title Winner Sdn Bhd Property investment RM100,000 80 -
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Boustead Group

Name of company*

As at 31 December 2010
SUBSIDIARIES (CONT'D.)

Boustead Sissons Paints Sdn Bhd

Boustead Shipping Agencies (B)
Sdn Bhd***

Cargo Freight Shipping Sdn Bhd
Boustead Pelita Kanowit Sdn Bhd
Boustead Pelita Tinjar Sdn Bhd

The University of Nottingham in
Malaysia Sdn Bhd

Boustead DCP Sdn Bhd (formerly known
as Boustead Linear Corporation Sdn Bhd)

Bakti Wira Development Sdn Bhd
SB Industries (Sdn) Bhd**
UAC Steel Systems Sdn Bhd**

Boustead Penang Shipyard Sdn Bhd

Perstim Industries Sdn Bhd
BHIC Petroleum Sdn Bhd

Dominion Defence & Industries Sdn Bhd

BHIC Defence Techservices Sdn Bhd

BHIC Defence Technologies Sdn Bhd

Naval Defence and Communication
System Sdn Bhd

Principal activities

Paint manufacturer
Shipping agent

Shipping agent

Cultivation of oil palm
Cultivation and processing of
oil palm

Operation of a university

Manufacture of chilled water

Investment holding
Property holding

Manufacture, sale and
installation of steel roof
truss systems

Heavy engineering
construction, ship repair
and shipbuilding

Investment holding

Provision of engineering
services for oil and gas
industry

Supply and services of
marine and defence
related products

Provision of maintenance and
services for defence related
products

Investment holding

Provision for maintenance

and services of
telecommunication systems

Paid-up capital

RM12,663,000
B$100,000

RM186,000
RM34,560,000
RM48,000,000

RM124,960,000

RM12,000,000

RM75,000
RM5,800,000
RM1,860,000

RM350,000,000

RM25,000,000
RM3,000,000

RM1,000,000

RM1,000,000

RM36,579,282
RM100,000

Group interest %

2010

70
70

70
60
60

66

100

100
65
65

65

65
65

65

65

65
65

2009

70
70

70
60
60

66

60

100
65
65

65

65
65

65

65

65
65
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Name of company* Principal activities Paid-up capital 2010 2009
BHIC Navaltech Sdn Bhd In-service support for the RM10,000,000 65 65
maintenance, services and
supply of spare parts for
vessels
BHIC Electronics and Technologies Provision of maintenance and RM2,329,897 65 65
Sdn Bhd services for defence
weapons and related
products
Atlas Defence Technology Sdn Bhd Supply of electronics and RM510,000 46 46
system technology to
defence related industry
Malaysian Heavy Industry Group Sdn Bhd Investment holding RM25,000 39 39
PSC Tema Shipyard Limited**@ Heavy engineering, ship Cedi4,500,791 39 39
repair and fabrication
Boustead DCNS Corporation Sdn Bhd Vessel maintenance RM10,000,000 39 39
Contraves Advanced Devices Sdn Bhd Manufacturing of electronic RM5,000,000 33 -
products
BYO Marine Sdn Bhd** Construction of vessels RM100 33 33
BHIC Bofors Asia Sdn Bhd Providing, supplying and RM1,000,000 33 33
servicing BOFORS weapons
system
Wavemaster-Langkawi Yacht Centre Repair and maintenance of RM7,164,012 82 57
Sdn Bhd luxury boats and yacht
customising and servicing
facilities
Boustead Petroleum Sdn Bhd Investment holding RM118,329,300 53 53

Boustead-Anwarsyukur Estate Agency RM500,000 100 100

Sdn Bhd

Plantation management

PT Boustead Indonesia Management Plantation management Rp1,836,800,000 51 51

Consultancy Services+**

Atlas Hall Sdn Bhd QOil and gas engineering RM3,265,306 51 51
agency

Boustead Petroleum Marketing Sdn Bhd** Marketing of petroleum RM229,967,000 37 37

products
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Name of company*

As at 31 December 2010
SUBSIDIARIES (CONT'D.)

Boustead Idaman Sdn Bhd
Idaman Pharma Manufacturing Sdn Bhd

U.K. Realty Sdn Bhd

Minat Warisan Sdn Bhd

Boustead Trading Sdn Bhd***
Malaysian Welding Industries Sdn Bhd
Emasewa Sdn Bhd

Boustead Electronic Commerce Sdn Bhd
Boustead Sissons Paints China Sdn Bhd
Progress Castings (1982) Sdn Bhd
Holiday Bath Sdn Bhd

Luboh Anak Batu Estates Sdn Bhd
Jernih Rezeki Sdn Bhd

BH Insurance (M) Berhad

ASSOCIATES

Pavilion Entertainment Centre (M)
Sdn Bhd

Drew Ameroid (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

Asia Smart Cards Centre (M) Sdn Bhd
Wah Seong Boustead Co LtdA

Applied Agricultural Resources Sdn Bhd
Kao (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

K'Line Kinkai (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

Principal activities

Investment holding

Manufacture and distribution
of pharmaceutical products

Ceased operations
Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Ceased operations
Ceased operations
Ceased operations
Ceased operations®
Ceased operations®
Ceased operations®
Ceased operations~

General insurance

Property development

Industrial chemicals
distributor

Smart card personalisation
Consumer and building
products distributor

Agricultural research and
advisory services

Toiletries, household products
distributor

Shipping agent

Paid-up capital

RM10,000,000
RM25,000,000

RM40,000,000
RM50,000,000
B$1,000,000
RM2,500,000
RM1,625,159
RM100,000
RM2,200,000
RM2,000,000
RM1,750,000
RM1,950,000
RM5,000,000
RM107,267,790

RM3,000,000
RM20,000

RM100,000
Kyat2,760,000

RM750,000
RM16,000,000

RM500,000

Group interest %

2010

100
51

100
100
100

75
100
100

42
100
100
100

51

50

50

50
50

50

45

30

2009

100
51

100
100
100
75
100
100
42
100
100
100
51
80

50

50

50
50

50

45

30
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Group interest %

Name of company* Principal activities Paid-up capital 2010 2009

Cadbury Confectionery Malaysia Sdn Bhd  Chocolate and sugar RM8, 185,000 25 25
confectionery manufacturer

Affin Holdings Berhad Financial services group RM1,494,575,806 20 20

Perimekar Sdn Bhd Marketing, supplying, RM1,000,000 20 20

maintenance and all other
services related to
submarines and surface

vessels
Jendela Hikmat Sdn Bhd Property development RM30,000,000 30 30
Rakan Riang Sdn Bhd Operating education and RM5,000,000 20 20

entertainment facilities

* Incorporated in Malaysia unless otherwise indicated
*¥* Subsidiaries not audited by Ernst & Young
*¥¥*¥* Incorporated in Brunei
Incorporated in Indonesia
Incorporated in Myanmar
Commenced member's voluntary liquidation in 2004
Commenced member's voluntary liquidation in 2009
Incorporated in Ghana

@1 @ >+
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Additional Disclosures

1. UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS RAISED FROM CORPORATE PROPOSALS
(a) Status on utilisation of proceeds from rights issue as at 31 January 2011

Proposed Actual To be
utilisation utilised utilised Time frame

RM Million RM Million RM Million

Repayment of bank borrowings 400.0 400.0 — Until 31 Dec 2010

Working capital and/or acquisition 328.2 215.0 113.2 Until 31 Dec 2012

Rights issue expenses 1.0 0.9 — Until 31 Dec 2010
729.2 615.9 113.2

(b) Status on utilisation of proceeds from issue of MTNs as at 31 January 2011

Proposed Actual To be
utilisation utilised utilised Time frame

RM Million RM Million RM Million

Repayment of revolving credit loans 69.0 69.0 — Until 31 Dec 2012
Acquisition of Pharmaniaga 350.0 - 350.0 Until 31 Dec 2012
419.0 69.0 350.0

The balance of the MTN programme comprising RM581 million of MTNs will be issued during 2011.

2. SHARE BUY BACKS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR

The Company did not carry out any share buy back exercises during the financial year ended
31 December 2010.

3. OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES EXERCISED

The Company did not issue any warrants or convertible securities for the financial year ended
31 December 2010.

4. AMERICAN DEPOSITORY RECEIPTS (ADR)/GLOBAL DEPOSITORY RECEIPT (GDR)

The Company has not sponsored any ADR/GDR programme during the financial year ended
31 December 2010.
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SANCTIONS/PENALTIES

There were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the Company and its Subsidiaries, Directors and
Management by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year ended 31 December 2010.

NON-AUDIT FEES

Group Company

RM’000 RM’'000
Non-audit fees paid to the external auditors for the financial year ended
31 December 2010
Company 645 645
Others 94 26
739 671

The provision of non-audit services by the external auditors to the Group is both cost effective and efficient
due to their knowledge and understanding of the operations of the Group, and did not compromise their
independence and objectivity. It is also the Group’s policy to use the auditors in cases where their knowledge
of the Group means it is neither efficient nor cost effective to employ another firm of accountants.

VARIATION IN RESULT

There was no profit estimation, forecast and projection made or released by the Company during the financial
year ended 31 December 2010.

PROFIT GUARANTEE

There was no profit guarantees given by the Company and its Subsidiaries during the financial year ended
31 December 2010.

REVALUATION POLICY ON LANDED PROPERTIES

The Group’s landed properties classified under property, plant and equipment are not revalued, but are reviewed
at each balance sheet date to determine if there is any indication of impairment. These landed properties are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. For landed properties classified as investment
properties, the Group assesses the fair value at the end of each financial year and the change in fair value is
taken as gain or loss in profit or loss.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There were no material contracts which had been entered into by the Group involving the interests of Directors
and major shareholders, either still subsisting at the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2010 or
entered into since the end of the previous financial year.
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Recurrent Related Party Transactions

At the Annual General Meeting held on 5 April 2010, the Company obtained Shareholders’ Mandate to allow the
Group to enter into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature.

In accordance with Section 3.1.5 of Practice Note No. 12 of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing
Requirements, the details of recurrent related party transactions conducted during the financial year ended
31 December 2010 pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate are disclosed as follows:

Interested Director/ Actual
Related party connected person Nature of transactions transactions
Boustead Sissons Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Sales of paints to Boustead Building 9.1
Paints Sdn Bhd Kamaruddin Materials Sdn Bhd and Boustead
Petroleum Marketing Sdn Bhd
Lembaga Tabung Angkatan
Tentera (LTAT)
Boustead Naval Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Shipbuilding and ship repair works 0.1
Shipyard Kamaruddin provided to Boustead Heavy Industries
Sdn Bhd Corporation Berhad
Datuk Azzat Kamaludin
LTAT
Boustead Heavy Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Sale of equipment and machinery for 31.9
Industries Kamaruddin ship related activities to Boustead Naval
Corporation Shipyard Sdn Bhd
Berhad Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Ali
Datuk Azzat Kamaludin Shipbuilding and ship repair works 163.6
provided to Boustead Naval Shipyard
LTAT Sdn Bhd
Affin Holdings Gen. Tan Sri Dato” Mohd Office rental for Menara Boustead, 13.9

Berhad Group
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Ghazali Hj. Che Mat (R)

Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok
Kamaruddin

Datuk Azzat Kamaludin
Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Ali

LTAT

Menara Affin and the Curve paid to
Boustead Realty Sdn Bhd, Boustead
Properties Berhad and Boustead Curve
Sdn Bhd

Boustead Holdings Berhad 2010 Annual Report



Interested Director/ Actual
Related party connected person Nature of transactions transactions
Irat Hotels and Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Rental of hotel building paid by Boustead 10.5
Resorts Kamaruddin Hotels & Resorts Sdn Bhd
Sdn Bhd
Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Al
LTAT
Johan Ceramics  Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Sale of ceramics tiles to Boustead 4.3
Berhad Kamaruddin Building Materials Sdn Bhd
Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Ali
LTAT
Perwira Niaga Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Purchase of fuel from Boustead 11.7
Malaysia Kamaruddin Petroleum Marketing Sdn Bhd
LTAT
Arkitek MAA Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Ali Architectural services to Boustead Curve 1.1
Sdn Bhd and Mutiara Rini Sdn Bhd
Azzat & lzzat Datuk Azzat Kamaludin Provision of legal services to Boustead 0.6

Amounts are stated in RM Million
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Top 30 Properties of the Group

Location

The Curve, Jalan PJU 7/3,
Mutiara Damansara, Selangor

Grant No. 5314, Semenyih,
Selangor

Mutiara Rini, Kulai, Johor
e@Curve, Jalan PJU 7/3,
Mutiara Damansara, Selangor
Menara Affin, 80 Jalan Raja
Chulan, Kuala Lumpur

Menara Boustead, 69 Jalan Raja
Chulan, Kuala Lumpur

Royale Bintang Kuala Lumpuir,
17-21 Jalan Bukit Bintang, Kuala
Lumpur

Royale Bintang Seremban, Lot
20890 and Lot 20745, Bandar
Seremban, Daerah Seremban,
Negeri Sembilan

183 Ampang, Lot 923, Jalan
Ampang, Kuala Lumpur

HSD 183241 PT 44582, Mutiara
Damansara, Mukim Sungai
Buluh, Selangor

Menara UAC, Jalan PJU 7/3,
Mutiara Damansara, Selangor

Menara Boustead Penang, Jalan
Sultan Ahmad Shah,
Georgetown, Pulau Pinang

Pedai Estate, Kanowit, Sarawak

Lot 70, Mutiara Damansara,
Mukim Sungai Buluh, Selangor

TRP Estate, Trong, Perak

Jih Estate, Kanowit, Sarawak

Hectares

5.04

4117

356.16
1.57

0.34

0.43

0.31

2.52

1.23

0.61

0.57

4.00

3,421.6

13.7

1411.0

2,960.1

Description
Commercial land
and building
University campus
Development land
Commercial land
and building
Office complex

Office complex

Hotel

Hotel

43 units of luxury
condominium

Commercial land
Office complex
Office complex
Oil palm estate
Development land
Oil palm estate &

mill
Oil palm estate

Age of
buildings
Tenure Years
Freehold 6
Freehold 5
1912 - 2911
Freehold 5
Freehold 12
Freehold 25
Freehold 13
Freehold 10
Freehold 2
Freehold
Freehold 3
Freehold 12
1998 - 2058
Freehold
Freehold 9
1998 - 2058

Book
value

434.2

160.5

144.5
143.1

129.5

125.2

102.4

90.1

85.4

79.6

78.3

69.5

60.1

57.7

53.6

56.3

Year of
acquisition/
revaluation

*2010
2003

1995
*¥2010

*¥2010
2001

2003

2008

*2010

*2010

*2010
*2010
1998
1999
2010

1998
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Location Hectares  Description

HSD 183245 PT 44575, Mukim 0.88 Hotel under
Sungai Buluh, Selangor construction
Loagan Bunut Estate, Miri 4,190.0 Qil palm estate &
Sarawak palm oil mill
Sungai Lelak Estate, Miri 3,734.0 Qil palm estate
Sarawak

Lot 719, Lot 723-725, Lot 444- 0.48 Hotel under

445 and Lot 235 Mukim construction

Georgetown, Daerah Timur Laut,
Pulau Pinang

Royale Bintang Curve, 0.62 Hotel

Jalan PJU 7/3, Mutiara

Damansara, Selangor

Bukit Limau Estate, Miri Sarawak 4,827.0 Oil palm estate
Kelimut Estate, Kanowit, Sarawak 2,211.7 Oil palm estate
Sutera Estates, Segaluid, Sabah 2,200.7 Qil palm estate

Lot 67329 and Lot 67330, 0.85 Commercial land
Mutiara Damansara, Mukim
Sungai Buluh, Selangor

Ladang Tabung Tentera, 1,938.3 Qil palm estate
Kemaman, Terengganu
Pajakan Negeri No. 649 Lot No. 8.18  Shipyard

3222, Mukim 13, Daerah Timur
Laut, Pulau Pinang

Bingin Rupit Estates, Musi 6,628 Qil palm estate &
Rawas, Sumatera Selatan, palm oil mill
Indonesia

Wisma Boustead, 71 Jalan Raja 0.11  Office complex
Chulan, Kuala Lumpur

15, Jalan Eaton, off Jalan Tun 0.33  Residential
Razak, Kuala Lumpur bungalow

* Year of revaluation
Book values are stated in RM Million

Tenure

Freehold

1991 - 2097

1988 - 2088

Freehold

Freehold

1995 — 2094
1998 - 2058
1888 — 2888
Freehold

1982 — 2054

1973 - 2072

1998 - 2028

Freehold

Freehold

Age of
buildings
Years

39

27

35

Book
value

48.6

48.9

41.2

40.0

38.8

38.6
38.5
38.0
37.6
34.7

34.2

31.0

22.0

17.0

Year of
acquisition/
revaluation

1999
1994
1994

2007

2005

1994
1998
2010
*2010
1995

2007

1995

1984

2010
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Group Oil Palm Agricultural Statistics

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Planted area (hectares)
Prime mature 61,323 62,236 62,634 62,521 56,626
Young mature 6,308 4,634 5,147 7,493 14,370
Total mature 67,631 66,870 67,781 70,014 70,996
Immature 6,723 7,500 6,708 6,158 5,698
Total planted 74,354 74,370 74,489 76,172 76,694
FFB crop (MT) 1,070,455 1,106,371 1,161,334 1,196,035 1,262,449
FFB yield per hectare (MT/hectare)
Prime mature 16.3 16.7 17.5 17.7 19.8
Total mature 15.8 16.5 17.1 171 17.8
Mill production (MT)
Palm oil 237,078 242,582 257,468 258,624 248,135
Palm kernel 54,269 56,918 61,018 63,091 59,915
Extraction rates (%)
Palm oil 20.5 20.2 19.9 19.9 20.1
Palm kernel 4.7 4.7 4.7 4.9 4.9
Oil yield per prime mature hectare
(MT/hectare) 3.7 3.7 4.1 4.2 4.7
Average selling prices (RM/MT)
FFB 556 433 597 482 266
Palm oil 2,622 2,170 2,794 2,279 1,464
Palm kernel 1,625 990 1,571 1,338 862
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Plantation Area Statement

AREA STATEMENT

2010 2009
Categories Hectares % Hectares %
Oil palm 74,354 76.1 74,370 76.1
Plantable reserves 9,314 9.5 9,834 10.1
Building sites, roads, unplantable areas, etc. 13,980 14.4 13,459 13.8
Total hectares 97,648 100.0 97,663 100.0
AGE PROFILE OF PALMS
Young )
Immature mature Prime mature

<3 3-6 7-15 16 - 25 Total
Region years years years years planted
Peninsular Malaysia 4,193 3,292 9,226 9,895 26,606
Sabah 2,500 3,016 8,955 9,475 23,946
Sarawak - - 16,934 1,900 18,834
Indonesia 30 - 4,938 - 4,968
Total hectares 6,723 6,308 40,053 21,270 74,354

Oil palm area includes 45,318 hectares leased from Golden Crop Returns Berhad and Al-Hadharah Boustead
REIT.
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Shareholding Statistics

AS AT 31 JANUARY 2011

Size of shareholdings No. of holders % No. of shares %
Less than 100 407 3.42 10,801 0.00
100 to 1,000 2,117 17.81 1,661,385 0.18
1,001 to 10,000 6,885 57.94 27,994,972 2.98
10,001 to 100,000 2,089 17.58 61,980,768 6.59
100,001 to less than 5% of issued 3856 3.24 291,193,183 30.97
shares
5% and above of issued shares 1 0.01 557,321,390 59.28
Total 11,884 100.00 940,162,499 100.00
30 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 31 JANUARY 2011
No. Name of shareholders No. of shares %
1. LEMBAGA TABUNG ANGKATAN TENTERA 557,321,390 59.28
2. SCOTIA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 21,567,500 2.29
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR CHE LODIN BIN WOK KAMARUDDIN
3. CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 18,000,000 1.91
EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND BOARD (NOMURA)
4. HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD 9,626,700 1.02
TNTC FOR SAUDI ARABIAN MONETARY AGENCY
5. MAYBAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 7,638,500 0.81
ETIQA INSURANCE BERHAD (LIFE PAR FUND)
6. MAYBAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 7,261,240 0.77
MAYBAN TRUSTEES BERHAD FOR PUBLIC REGULAR SAVINGS FUND (N14011940100)
7. CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 7,202,000 0.77
EXEMPT AN FOR AMERICAN INTERNATIONAL ASSURANCE BERHAD
8. DB (MALAYSIA) NOMINEE (TEMPATAN) SENDIRIAN BERHAD 6,547,900 0.70
ICAPITAL.BIZ BERHAD
9. CHINCHOO INVESTMENT SDN. BERHAD 6,389,240 0.68
10. YONG SIEW YOON 5,677,056 0.60
11. CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 5,313,000 0.57
EXEMPT AN FOR PRUDENTIAL FUND MANAGEMENT BERHAD
12. CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 4,962,800 0.53
EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND BOARD (PHEIM)
13. CITIGROUP NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD 4,738,580 0.50
CBNY FOR DIMENSIONAL EMERGING MARKETS VALUE FUND
14. GAN TENG SIEW REALTY SDN. BERHAD 4,600,940 0.49
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No. Name of shareholders No. of shares %

15. CITIGROUP NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD 4,177,660 0.45
EXEMPT AN FOR OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED (CLIENT A/C-NR)

16. KEY DEVELOPMENT SDN. BERHAD 3,720,700 0.40

17. AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD 3,380,140 0.36
PUBLIC EQUITY FUND

18. HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD 3,350,000 0.36
EXEMPT AN FOR JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (NORGES BK LEND)

19. AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD 3,224,540 0.34
PUBLIC SOUTH-EAST ASIA SELECT FUND

20. HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD 3,098,500 0.33
TNTC FOR GOVERNMENT OF SINGAPORE INVESTMENT CORPORATION PTE LTD

21. GEMAS BAHRU ESTATES SDN. BHD. 3,026,800 0.32

22. CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 3,000,000 0.32
EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND BOARD (AM INV)

23. BIDOR TAHAN ESTATES SDN. BHD. 2,803,000 0.30

24. MAYBAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 2,734,000 0.29
MAYBAN TRUSTEES BERHAD FOR PUBLIC AGGRESSIVE GROWTH FUND (N14011940110)

25. AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD 2,658,360 0.28
PUBLIC GROWTH FUND

26. MIKDAVID SDN BHD 2,561,300 0.27

27. MALAYSIAN ASSURANCE ALLIANCE BERHAD 2,550,000 0.27

28. HONG LEONG ASSURANCE BERHAD 2,300,000 0.25
AS BENEFICIAL OWNER (UNITLINKED GF)

29. RENGO MALAY ESTATE SENDIRIAN BERHAD 2,248,600 0.24

30. CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 2,200,000 0.23
CIMB BANK FOR DATO’ CHE LODIN BIN WOK KAMARUDDIN (MMO197)

Total 713,880,446 75.93

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS BASED ON THE REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Direct interest Indirect interest
No. of shares % No. of shares %
Lembaga Tabung Angkatan Tentera 557,321,390 59.28 - -
Class of shares Ordinary shares of RM0.50 each
Voting rights 1 vote per ordinary share
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Statement of Directors’ Interest

In The Company and Related Corporations as at 31 January 2011

Name of Director

Ordinary shares of RMO0.50 each

Boustead Holdings Berhad

Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Kamaruddin
Datuk Azzat Kamaludin

Ordinary shares of RM1.00 each
SUBSIDIARIES

Boustead Heavy Industries Corporation Berhad

Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Kamaruddin
Datuk Azzat Kamaludin
Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Ali

Boustead Petroleum Sdn Bhd
Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Kamaruddin

Redeemable preference shares of RM1.00 each

Boustead Petroleum Sdn Bhd
Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Kamaruddin

RELATED COMPANY

Affin Holdings Berhad

Gen. Tan Sri Dato’ Mohd Ghazali Hj. Che Mat (R)
Tan Sri Dato’ Lodin Wok Kamaruddin

Datuk Azzat Kamaludin

Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Ali

No. of shares

26,011,599
40,000

2,000,000
495,300
75,000

5,916,465

50

91,708
808,714
110,000

51,000

Direct
%

2.77

0.80
0.21
0.03

5.00

5.00

0.01
0.05
0.01
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Dividend Policy

It is the Board's intention to pay dividends to allow shareholders to participate in
the profits of Boustead Holdings Berhad. The dividend policy is in line with the
Board's intention to adopt a policy of active capital management where the Board
endeavours to declare an interim dividend at the end of each quarter of the financial
year in order that shareholders may enjoy a distribution on a regular basis. In this
regard, the Company’s ability to pay dividends would depend upon factors such as
business prospects, expansion and growth strategies, capital requirements, cash
reserves and other factors the Board may deem relevant.

Under the dividend policy, the Company intends to pay a minimum of 70% of the
audited consolidated profit after taxation attributable to shareholders for each
financial year after appropriate adjustments for the profit retained by Associated
Companies and any unrealised income from fair value adjustments that are non-cash
in nature.

The dividend policy is effective from the financial year 2011.

As the Company is an investment holding company, its income, and therefore
its ability to pay dividends or make distributions to shareholders, is dependent upon
the dividends and other distributions from Subsidiaries, Associated Companies and
investments which in turn will depend upon their operating results, financial
condition, capital expenditure plans and other factors that their respective board of
directors deem relevant.

The dividend policy reflects the Board's current views on the Group's financial
position and the said policy will be reviewed from time to time. In recommending
dividends, it is the Board’s policy to allow shareholders to participate directly in the
Company’s profits whilst taking into account the retention of adequate reserves for
future growth.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Forty-Ninth

Annual General Meeting of Boustead Holdings Berhad

will be held at 4th Floor, Menara Boustead, 69 Jalan

Raja Chulan, 50200 Kuala Lumpur on Thursday,

7 April 2011 at 9.30 a.m. for the purpose of transacting
th the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

To receive and, if thought fit, adopt the audited financial Resolution 1
statements for the year ended 31 December 2010, and the Report
of the Directors.

To re-elect Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Ali who retires by rotation and, Resolution 2
being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions:-

“THAT pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965, Resolution 3
Gen. Tan Sri Dato’ Mohd Ghazali Hj. Che Mat (R) be re-appointed

a Director of the Company to hold office until the next Annual

General Meeting.”

“THAT pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, Resolution 4
1965, Lt. Gen. Dato’ Mohd Yusof Din (R) be re-appointed a

Director of the Company to hold office until the next Annual

General Meeting.”

“THAT pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965, Resolution 5
Dato’ (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Megat Ahmad be re-appointed a

Director of the Company to hold office until the next Annual

General Meeting.”

To approve the increase of Directors’ fees from RM280,000 Resolution 6
to RM422,000.

To re-appoint Auditors and to authorise the Directors to determine Resolution 7
their remuneration.
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SPECIAL BUSINESS
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions:

Ordinary Resolution — Authority to Allot and Issue Shares in
General Pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act,
1965

"THAT pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 and
subject to the approvals of the relevant governmental/regulatory
authorities, the Directors be and are hereby empowered to issue
shares in the capital of the Company from time to time and upon
such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors,
may in their absolute discretion deem fit, provided that the
aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to this resolution
does not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
for the time being and that the Directors be and are hereby also
empowered to obtain approval from the Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad for the listing and gquotation of the additional
shares so issued and that such authority shall continue to be in
force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of
the Company.”

Ordinary Resolution — Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’
Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions

"THAT, subject to the Companies Act, 1965 (Act), the Memorandum
and Articles of Association of the Company and the Listing
Requirements of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, approval
be and is hereby given to the Company and its Subsidiaries to
enter into all transactions involving the Related Parties as specified
in Section 2.3.1 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 16 March
2011 provided that such transactions are:-

(i) recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature;

(i) necessary for the day-to-day operations;

(i) carried out in the ordinary course of business on normal
commercial terms which are not more favourable to the Related
Parties than those generally available to the public; and

(iv) are not to the detriment of the minority shareholders.

Resolution 8

Resolution 9
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

AND THAT such approval shall continue to be in force until:-

(i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (AGM), at
which time it will lapse, unless by a resolution passed at the said
AGM, such authority is renewed;

(i) the expiration of the period within the next AGM of the Company
is required to be held pursuant to Section 143(1) of the Act (but
shall not extend to such extension as may be allowed pursuant
to Section 143(2) of the Act); or

(i) revoked or varied by a resolution passed by the shareholders in
a General Meeting;

whichever is the earlier.

And further that the Directors of the Company be authorised to
complete and do all such acts and things (including executing all
such documents as may be required) as they may consider
expedient or necessary to give effect to the Mandate.”

Ordinary Resolution — Proposed Additional Shareholders’
Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions

"THAT, subject always to the Listing Requirements of the Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall
be mandated to enter into recurrent transactions of a revenue or
trading nature with the Related Party as specified in Section 2.3.2
of the Circular to Shareholders dated 16 March 2011 subject
further to the following:

(i) the transactions are in the ordinary course of business and are
on terms not more favourable than those generally available to
the public and not to the detriment of the minority
shareholders;

(i) disclosure will be made of a breakdown of the aggregate value
of transactions conducted pursuant to the Mandate during the
financial year based on the following information in the Company’s
annual report and in the annual reports for subsequent financial
years that the Mandate continues in force:-

(a) the type of the recurrent related party transactions made;
and

(b) the names of the related parties involved in each type of
the recurrent related party transactions made and their
relationship with the Company; and

Resolution 10
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(iii) that such authority shall continue to be in force until

(a) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (AGM)
of the Company following the General Meeting at which
the Proposed Shareholders’ Mandate was passed, at
which time it will lapse, unless by a resolution passed at
the meeting, the authority is renewed,

(b) the expiration of the period within which the next AGM
after this date is required to be held pursuant to Section
143(1) of the Companies Act, 1965 (but shall not extend
to such extension as may be allowed pursuant to Section
143(2) of the Companies Act, 1965); or

(c) revoked or varied by resolution passed by the shareholders
in a General Meeting;

whichever is earlier provided that such transactions are made on
an arms’ length basis and on normal commercial terms.”

To transact any other ordinary business of the Company.
By Order of the Board
SHARIFAH MALEK

Secretary

Kuala Lumpur
16 March 2011

NOTES:

(a)

Any member entitled to attend and vote may
appoint up two (2) proxies, who need not be a
member, to attend and vote on his or her
behalf. Ordinary shareholders are being sent
herewith a Form of Proxy with provision for
two-way voting on the foregoing numbered
resolutions. The instrument appointing a proxy
must be lodged at the Registered Office or
Share Registrar’s Office not less than forty-eight
hours before the time of the Meeting.

The ordinary resolution proposed under item 8
above, if passed, will give powers to the
Directors to issue up to a maximum of 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company for the
time being for such purposes as the Directors
consider would be in the interest of the
Company. This authority will, unless revoked or
varied by the Company in a General Meeting,
expire at the conclusion of the next Annual

(c)

General Meeting or the expiration of the period

within which the next Annual General Meeting

required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

° The mandate sought under item 8 above
is a renewal of an existing mandate.

o The proceeds raised from the previous
mandate were RM23.0 million.

o The proceeds raised were fully utilised to
pare down borrowings as at 30 June 2010.

The proposed resolution 9 and 10, if passed,
will enable the Company and/or its Subsidiaries
to enter into recurrent transactions involving the
interests of Related Parties, which are of a
revenue or trading nature and necessary for the
Group’s day-to-day operations, subject to the
transactions being carried out in the ordinary
course of business and on terms not to
the detriment of the minority shareholders of
the Company.

Boustead Holdings Berhad 2010 Annual Report



Statement Accompanying
Notice of Annual General Meeting

1. Directors who are standing for re-appointment and re-election

a) Directors standing for re-appointment under Section 129 (6) of the
Companies Act, 1965

(i)  Gen. Tan Sri Dato’” Mohd Ghazali Hj. Che Mat (R)
(i) Lt. Gen. Dato’ Mohd Yusof Din (R)
(i) Dato’ (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Megat Ahmad

b) Director standing for re-election
Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Al

Details of attendance of Board Meetings of Directors seeking re-appointment
and re-election are set out on page 88 of the Annual Report.

Profile of Directors standing for re-election and re-appointment are set out on
pages 74 and 75 of the annual report; while details of their interest in securities
are set out on page 104 and 216 of the annual report.

2. Date, Time and Place of the Annual General Meeting

The Forty-Ninth Annual General Meeting of Boustead Holdings Berhad will be
held as follows:-

Date : 7 April 2011

Time : 9.30 a.m.

Place : 4th Floor, Menara Boustead, 69 Jalan Raja Chulan, 50200,
Kuala Lumpur
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Proxy Form

I/We NRIC (New)/Company No.:
(INSERT FULL NAME IN BLOCK CAPITAL)

of
(FULL ADDRESS)

being a member/members of BOUSTEAD HOLDINGS BERHAD, hereby appoint *

(INSERT FULL NAME IN BLOCK CAPITAL)

NRIC (New) No.: of

(FULL ADDRESS)

and/or NRIC (New) No.:
(INSERT FULL NAME IN BLOCK CAPITAL)

of

(FULL ADDRESS)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as *my/our proxy/proxies to attend and vote for *me/us on
*my/our behalf, at the Forty-Ninth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 4th Floor, Menara Boustead,
69 .Je(ljlan R%{'abClhuIan, 50200 Kuala Lumpur on Thursday, 7 April 2011 at 9.30 a.m. or any adjournment thereof, to vote
as Indicated below:

No. | Resolution For Against
1 | Adoption of Directors’ Report and Audited Financial Statements

2 | Re-election of Dato’ Ghazali Mohd Al

3 | Re-appointment of Gen. Tan Sri Dato’ Mohd Ghazali Hj. Che Mat (R)

4 | Re-appointment of Lt. Gen. Dato’ Mohd Yusof Din (R)

5 | Re-appointment of Dato’ (Dr.) Megat Abdul Rahman Megat Ahmad

6 | Increase of Directors’ fees

7 | Re-appointment of Auditors

8 | Approval of Directors to allot and issue shares

9 | Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for recurrent related party transactions
10 | Additional Shareholders’ Mandate for recurrent related party transactions

Datedthis_____ day of 2011

No. of ordinary shares held:
CDS Account No.:

Proportion of FirstProxy: ____ %
shareholdings to be SecondProxy: %
represented by proxies

Contact No.:

Signature of Member/Common Seal

NOTES
1. If you wish to appoint as a proxy some person other than the Chairman of the Meeting, please insert in block letters the full name and address
of the person of your choice and initial the insertion at the same time deleting the words “the Chairman of the Meeting”. A proxy need not
be a member of the Company but must attend the Meeting in person to vote. Please indicate with an “X" in the appropriate box how you
wish your vote to be cast in respect of each Resolution.

In the absence of any specific direction the proxy will vote, or abstain from voting, as he thinks fit.

In the case of a Corporation, the proxy should be executed under its Common Seal or under the hand of a duly authorised officer.

Article 62. If you have appointed more than one proxy, please specify the proportion of your shares to be represented by each proxy.

Article 93. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, shall be deposited
at the Share Registrar's office located at 13th Floor, Menara Boustead, 69 Jalan Raja Chulan, 50200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, not less than 48
hours before the time for holding the Meeting or adjourned Meeting at which the person or persons named in such instrument proposes to
vote, and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated as valid.
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